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‘Liquid Crystal Seashore’
Cover image taken by the SFI Research 
Image of the Year 2018 winner, Dr Sithara 
Sreenilayam Pavithran, Coordinator with the 
Advanced Processing Technology Research 
Centre (APT) in the School of Mechanical 
and Manufacturing Engineering, Dublin City 
University (DCU).

 

“The microscopic image shows seashore like features 
in the liquid crystal (LC) material at the isotropic to 
nematic phase transition. This feature is developed in 
a temperature gradient LC cell made up of two glass 
substrates. In the region that looks like water bubbles 
near the shore, the threadlike defects that develop 
at the isotropic to anisotropic transition temperature 
can be seen. These defects are the proof of uniaxial 
nematic phase transition. The area in yellow, which 
looks like shallow water, is the pre-transitional region, 
just below the conditions for phase separation of 
anisotropic nematic, where molecules are slowly 
possessing orientational order. The orange area, 
which looks like deep water, is where the orientational 
order of molecules are spontaneously arising below 
isotropic to nematic phase transition. The colour of 
the image depends on the temperature, shape of LC 
molecule and sample thickness.”
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About Science  
Foundation Ireland 
Science Foundation Ireland (SFI) is the 
national foundation for investment in 
research in the areas of science, technology, 
engineering, and mathematics (STEM), 
which assists in the development and 
competitiveness of industry, enterprise and 
employment in Ireland. It also promotes and 
supports STEM education and engagement 
to improve awareness and understanding of 
the value of STEM to society and to support 
the STEM careers pipeline.

See www.sfi.ie for more information.

We believe that scientific 
knowledge and 
understanding benefit 
the whole of society and 
the economy – join the 

conversation online at

#BelieveInScience
@scienceirel
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€46m

SFI supports 39,823 jobs in Ireland (up by 28%)

4,924 people working on SFI-supported projects 

1,610 Postgraduate students supported 

Education and public engagement activities up by 20%

12 regional Science Week Festivals -1,400 events 

#StopAndAsk social media campaign 

Funding from Industry up by 43% =  

1,715 industry collaborations  

12 spin-out companies 

51 patents awarded 

174 invention disclosures

2,715 international collaborations in 74 countries 

72% of academic-academic collaborations are international 

SFI Conferences & Workshops Programme contributes 

€9.3 million to the economy

897 regional industry collaborations - 504 with MNCs and 393 with SMEs 

Talent & Skills

Driving Competitiveness…

…and Regional Development

Global Footprint

Key Statistics 2018

Ireland is 12th in global scientific ranking1 

26 of the most highly cited researchers in the world 
are funded by SFI 

4,881 publications reported. SFI-funded publications are 2.66 times more 
likely to be star publications than the global average3

 

Ireland is2…
1st in the world for knowledge diffusion

5th for knowledge impact 

6th for knowledge absorption            

10th most innovative country

REGIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Eastern and 
Midlands Region

280 MNC

214 SME

Southern Region

175 MNC

96 SME

Northern Region

8 MNC

11 SME

Western Region

41 MNC

72 SME

Ireland ranks1…
1st – Immunology

2nd – Agricultural Sciences

3rd – Nanotechnology

5th – Material Sciences

Excellent Science

1   InCites by Clarivate Analytics

2   Global Innovation Index 2018

3   Star publications are publications in the top 1% of most cited publications, globally

4   2018 independent impact assessment reports via Trinity College Dublin, University College Cork and University Limerick

Non-exchequer funding 

€230 million (up by 31%)

€98 million won from the EU (up by 40%) 

6 ERC awards won by SFI researchers

 

Value for Money 
From €188 million, SFI investments leverage

For every €1 invested by the State in SFI Research Centres,

approx. €5 is leveraged back to the economy4

712 collaborations 
with 527 MNCs 

1,003 collaborations 
with 548 SMEs 
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Delivering Innovation and 
Impact for Ireland
2018 was a significant year for Science Foundation 
Ireland (SFI), as we continued to focus on supporting 
excellent scientific research that delivered 
transformative economic and societal impact for 
Ireland. 

As part of delivering Science Foundation Ireland’s 
strategy, Agenda 2020, and important Government 
strategies - Future Jobs Ireland, Project Ireland 
2040 and Global Ireland 2025 - we grew investment 
in SFI Research Centres, provided support to early 
career researchers, developed a new comprehensive 
PhD programme and recruited star researchers to 
Ireland. We forged international partnerships and 
collaborations in the US, UK and China. Industry, 
both MNCs and SMEs, continued to benefit from the 
research taking place in Ireland, as demonstrated by 
a significant level of collaboration and a 43% increase 
in co-funding (to €46 million) from private enterprise 
to Science Foundation Ireland-supported research 
programmes. 

In 2018, we increased our efforts to support 
significant research capacity in areas of national 
strategic importance, such as climate, marine and 
renewable energy, agri-tech, bio-economy and smart 
manufacturing. Science Foundation Ireland will 
continue to support key fields of national strategic 
importance going forward. 

Science with impact

Science Foundation Ireland’s overarching aim is 
to contribute to the betterment of society through 
the transformative research we fund, and to help 
foster an engaged and informed society that values 
research. In 2018, we hosted a ‘Think-In’ with industry 
and public sector organisations to help create a new 
challenge-based funding programme. This led to the 
creation of the SFI Future Innovator prize, with 12 
teams competing for a €1 million prize, beginning in 
2018 and continuing into 2019. The competition and 
the prize itself aim to harness Ireland’s innovation 
capabilities, to develop disruptive and impactful 
solutions to key national societal and economic 
challenges.

Engagement with industry, through 1,715 
collaborations, allows us to ensure that the excellent 
research we support can deliver tangible economic 
and societal benefits, supporting both current and 
future foreign direct investment, SMEs and our start-
up environment. 

The network of world-leading SFI Research Centres 
is the driving force behind our collaborative research 
environment, while other programmes such as 
the SFI Industry Fellowship boost skills and build 
enterprise capacity with regional engagement. 

Increasing access to research, so that the societal 
and economic benefits go further, is a priority. 45% 
of Science Foundation Ireland-funded original and 
review articles published in 2018 were open access. 
We partnered with other international funding 
organisations to support Plan S, a project coordinated 
by Science Europe, which is a decisive step towards 
achieving full and immediate open access for all SFI-
funded research publications by 2021. 

Prof Mark Ferguson 

Director General of Science 
Foundation Ireland and 
Chief Scientific Adviser to 
the Government of Ireland

Ms Bernie Cullinan 

Acting Chairman of 
Science Foundation 
Ireland

Chairman’s 
and Director 
General’s Joint 
Statement: 
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Nurturing talent 

A key objective for Science Foundation Ireland is 
supporting talented people with ideas to drive 
innovation, assisting Ireland in meeting the many 
challenges we face - technological changes, 
transitioning to a low carbon economy and 
developing a sustainable economy. 

The number of jobs supported by Science 
Foundation Ireland, both directly and indirectly 
across the regions, increased by 28% with 4,924 
people working on supported projects. 1,161 
postgraduate students were supported by Science 
Foundation Ireland, with 31% going to industry as 
1st destination employment. 

We also launched the new SFI Centres for Research 
Training Programme with an investment of over 
€100 million from the Government of Ireland to 
realise Project 2040’s objective of building a strong 
economy by expanding Ireland’s research capacity 
to meet industry skills needs. The programme will 
provide training for over 700 postgraduate students 
in fields of nationally and internationally identified 
future skills needs (digital, data and ICT), with the 
first student intake commencing in September 2019.

Attracting international research talent is a core 
objective. In 2018, three world-leading researchers 
were recruited through the SFI Research 
Professorship Programme. Prof John Dalton was 
recruited from Queens University Belfast (QUB) to 
NUI Galway; Prof Murray Hitzman was recruited 
from the US Geological Survey to join University 
College Dublin (UCD), where he now leads iCRAG, 
the SFI Centre for Research in Applied Geosciences; 
and Prof Séamus Davis was recruited from Cornell 
University in the US, to a joint appointment between 
University College Cork (UCC) and the University 
of Oxford. He will lead a research programme 
in quantum physics supported by a prestigious 
European Research Council Award and SFI Research 
Professorship and Infrastructure Awards. We have 
also recently attracted four early career researchers 
back to Ireland via the SFI President of Ireland Future 
Research Leaders Programme. 

Global footprint 

In 2018, Science Foundation Ireland grew its 
global footprint, offsetting Brexit concerns and 
securing international recognition and presence, 
delivered via strong research collaborations and 
bilateral partnerships. 2,715 international research 
collaborations took place between Science 
Foundation Ireland-funded researchers and their 
collaborators in 74 countries, an increase of 10%. 

We further increased the number of exciting 
international collaborations with innovative 
global companies, world-leading universities and 
international funding agencies; 72% of Science 
Foundation Ireland-funded academic-to-academic 
collaborations are with international partners.

A joint UK-Ireland funded investment (of 
approximately €39 million from SFI) will support 
the involvement of SFI Research Centres in seven 
new Centres for Doctoral Training with leading 
UK universities, allowing more than 200 Irish PhD 
students the benefit of a first-rate research and 
training programme. These awards have been 
made under a new partnership between Science 
Foundation Ireland and the Engineering and Physical 
Sciences Research Council (EPSRC), which is part of 
UK Research and Innovation (UKRI). 

Our continued strong relationship with the USA, 
largely driven by our partnership with the National 
Science Foundation (NSF), is demonstrated by 454 
US-Ireland research collaborations and €75 million 
invested across 45 successful partnerships to-date. 
In 2018, Science Foundation Ireland established its 
first overseas post in the USA to identify and facilitate 
research collaboration opportunities and to enable 
Irish researchers to connect more closely with US 
industry, philanthropy and academia. This post is 
located within IDA’s Mountain View Offices, thus 
ensuring efficiency and coordination. We thank our 
colleagues in IDA for this help and support. 

Further afield, we announced details of eight new 
research awards involving collaboration between 
Irish and Chinese researchers as part of a programme 
between Science Foundation Ireland and the 
National Natural Science Foundation of China 
(NSFC). These awards involve joint investment from 
Science Foundation Ireland of €8.6 million, and 
¥31,920,000 (ca. €4,273,000) from the NSFC.
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Science Foundation Ireland supports Ireland-based 
researchers to compete and win European research 
funding from the EU Horizon 2020 Programme, with 
researchers winning €98 million funding in 2018, an 
increase of 40% on the previous year. 
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Looking forward

Our ecosystem, which supports excellent research, 
outstanding talent, collaboration with industry, 
winning competitive international funding and a 
reputation for delivering impactful results, needs 
to be constantly nurtured and supported. Science 
Foundation Ireland will continue to innovate in 
designing and developing programmes that deliver 
excellent research results, producing outstanding 
researchers and engaging appropriate stakeholders. 
As other countries increase investment in research, we 
must remain agile, relevant and competitive. Science 
Foundation Ireland will continue to seek increased 
investment in Ireland’s RD&I ecosystem by clearly 
demonstrating the value of this research to Ireland’s 
economy and society. We must be ambitious and 
invest in areas of real potential, both to ensure our 
future economic competitiveness and to help solve the 
important challenges for Irish society. 

In 2018, Science Foundation Ireland commenced a 
widespread consultation on our new strategy for the 
period 2020-2025. This strategy will aim to empower 
our research community, industry and the public, 
allowing us to focus on areas where we believe we can 
add the most value, and drive innovation and growth 
with improved efficiency and competitiveness. These 
consultations have influenced our planning for 2019. 
We have prioritised enhanced support, through the SFI 
Frontiers for the Future Programme, for individually-
led excellent research at all career stages, including 
shorter, small-scale high-risk projects, and larger, 
longer-term programmes.  

In 2019, Science Foundation Ireland will work with 
our stakeholders to finalise our new strategy and 
deliver programmes that produce excellent research 
and highly-trained researchers sought by employers, 
as well as translating research results to produce 
meaningful economic and policy impacts.

Prof Mark Ferguson 
Director General, Science Foundation 
Ireland and Chief Scientific Adviser to the 
Government of Ireland

Ms Bernie Cullinan 
Deputy Chairman, Science Foundation Ireland
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Minister for Communications, Climate Action and 
Environment, Richard Bruton TD, launched SciFest 
on its ten-year anniversary and is supported by the 
SFI Discover Programme. 

Pictured (l-r): Dr Lorraine Byrne, Executive 
Director of the AMBER SFI Research Centre, 
Prof Mark Ferguson, Director General of 
Science Foundation Ireland and Chief 
Scientific Adviser to the Government of 
Ireland with Minister for Business, Enterprise 
and Innovation, Heather Humphreys TD, and 
Dr Gráinne Cunniffe, J&J Project Manager.

2018: A Year in Review

February

	 The Insight Data Analytics SFI Research Centre 
developed a mobile phone app ‘How Are You 
Ireland?’ which was featured on the RTÉ Late Late 
Show, to launch a research study into the wellbeing 
of the Irish population.

	 FutureNeuro, the SFI Research Centre for Chronic 
and Rare Neurological Diseases led by Royal College 
of Surgeons Ireland (RCSI), announced an industry 
partnership with Congenica, to deliver more 
accurate diagnoses for genetic epilepsy.

	 Minister for Training, Skills, Innovation, Research 
and Development, John Halligan TD, launched 41 
diverse initiatives supported by the SFI Discover 
Programme, with an investment of €4.4 million to 
promote STEM to the Irish public.

	 AMBER, the SFI Research Centre for Advanced 
Materials and Bioengineering led by Trinity College 
Dublin (TCD), announced a partnership with 
Johnson & Johnson to create a global 3D bioprinting 
collaborative laboratory to transform healthcare 
delivery for patients and consumers.

January

	 APC Microbiome Ireland SFI Research Centre,  
led by UCC, announced a significant 
contribution to the global health threat 
of antimicrobial resistance through broad 
spectrum antibiotics.

	 Dr Shane Bergin, UCD, launched ‘101: The Ways 
We Learn’ podcast series, exploring how people 
learn new things, supported by the SFI Discover 
Programme. 

	 A new €2 million R&D partnership was 
announced by Irish dairy equipment 
manufacturer Dairymaster, IT Tralee and Lero, 
the SFI Research Centre for Software, led by 
University of Limerick (UL), to develop artificial 
intelligence assistance for farmers.
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Pictured (l-r): Prof Eoin O’Reilly, interim CEO of the Tyndall 
National Institute, Cork, with Dr Sunit Rikhi, Non-Executive 
Director and Executive Consultant for Rockley Photonics, 
Prof Mark Ferguson, Director General of Science Foundation 
Ireland and Chief Scientific Adviser to the Government of 
Ireland, An Taoiseach Leo Varadkar TD, and Dr Patrick 
Morrissey, Centre Manager of the IPIC SFI Research Centre.

March

	 World-leading geologist, Prof Murray Hitzman, 
was awarded an SFI Research Professorship 
and appointed Director of iCRAG, the SFI 
Centre for Research in Applied Geosciences,  
led by UCD.

 An Taoiseach Leo Varadkar TD awarded the SFI 
St. Patrick’s Day Science Medal to Prof Margaret 
Murnane, University of Colorado, and David 
McCourt, Granahan McCourt Capital, for their 
significant contribution to academia, industry 
and research.

	 Science Foundation Ireland, in partnership 
with Fraunhofer Gesellschaft, hosted a visit by 
Minister Richard Bruton TD, to the Fraunhofer 
Institute for Applied Polymer (IAP) Research 
in Potsdam to demonstrate the extensive 
collaborative research already occurring 
between researchers in Ireland and the 
Fraunhofer Institutes.

 Engineers Week, supported by the SFI  
Discover Programme, saw a week-long  
festival celebrating the world of  
engineering take place across Ireland.

April

	 CÚRAM, the SFI Research Centre for Medical 
Devices led by NUI Galway, published research 
into a potential new treatment for lower back  
pain using hyaluronic acid in the journal  
Science Advances.

 Minister Halligan announced a €13.7 million 
investment in the next generation of research 
talent through the SFI Career Development 
Awards, supporting 22 early-stage researchers  
in a range of key strategic areas. 

	 Students from Marist College in Athlone won the 
national title at the SFI-funded ESERO Ireland 
CanSat Ireland National Finals, coordinated by 
CIT Blackrock Castle Observatory.

 The SFI-funded iMARL deep-ocean research 
project was launched by the Dublin Institute 
for Advanced Studies (DIAS), to place 18 state 
of-the-art seismometers off the west coast  
of Ireland. 

	 Lero, the SFI Research Centre for Software led 
by UL, won the 2018 global IEEE Computer 
Society Award for industry collaboration. 

Pictured (l-r): Prof Mark Ferguson, Director General, Science 
Foundation Ireland; Minister for Training, Skills, Innovation, 
Research and Development, John Halligan TD and Prof 
Sheila McBreen (UCD) at the SFI CDA Awards launch. 
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Sharon Omiwole was named the national winner 
of the SFI-supported FameLab Ireland science 
communication competition.

Pictured at the SFI-American Chamber ‘Think-In’ (l-r): Helen 
McBreen, Investment Director, Atlantic Bridge; Yvonne Goff, 
Chief Clinical Information Officer, HSE, and Sheila Kelly, 
Director Commercial Affairs, ICON plc. 

Minister Halligan announced the 641 primary schools nationwide 
that received an SFI Discover Primary Science and Maths Award – 
pictured at St Ursula’s National School Waterford.

The first ever World Microbiome 
Day was developed by the APC 
Microbiome Ireland SFI Research 
Centre, led by UCC, to encourage 
public dialogue on the critical 
importance of microbes (bacteria, 
viruses, fungi) to human, animal 
and environmental health. 

May

	 Minister for Business, Enterprise and Innovation, 
Heather Humphreys TD, launched CONFIRM, the 
SFI Research Centre for Smart Manufacturing,  
led by UL. 

 	 A new national ICHEC supercomputer was 
installed at NUI Galway with funding of €5.4 
million from SFI, to provide high performance 
computing power to address some of the 
toughest challenges in science and society. 

	 Science Foundation Ireland joined the ACT 
project consortium of 17 partners from 11 
countries to enhance gender expertise and the 
implementation of gender equality plans in 
European research and innovation. 

	 Science Foundation Ireland partnered with the 
American Chamber of Commerce Ireland to host 
a ‘Think-In’ with senior opinion leaders in Ireland 
to help develop a new challenge-based funding 
programme. 

June

	 Minister Humphreys announced 
€1.8 million investment in 21 new 
Science Foundation Ireland Industry 
Fellowships linking researchers 
with 20 MNC and SME industry 
partners to research renewable 
energy, cancer, medical devices, 
environmental sensors and 
materials science. 

 	 Tánaiste Simon Coveney TD and 
Minister for Trade, Employment, 
Business, EU Digital Single Market 
and Data Protection, Pat Breen TD, 
announced over €12 million in joint 
research funding with the National 
Natural Science Foundation of  
China (NSFC), supporting eight  
new research collaborations in  
areas of strategic importance to  
both countries. 
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August

	 The SFI Research Centre for Marine and Renewable Energy Ireland (MaREI) led by UCC, announced 
an additional €4.4 million in funding from Science Foundation Ireland and industry partners under 
the Sustainable Energy and Fuel Efficiency (SEFE) SFI Spokes programme, focusing on bioenergy. 

	 Pathfinder, a search and rescue system for preventing firefighters from becoming lost and 
disoriented in difficult conditions, was developed with researchers at ADAPT, the SFI Research 
Centre for Digital Content Technology led by Trinity College Dublin (TCD) and Cavan County Fire 
Service.

	 Researchers from the AMBER and BEACON SFI Research Centres discovered a new solution to the 
problem of plastic - home compostable biodegradable plastic - establishing new possibilities for 
waste management.

September

 An Post and Science Foundation Ireland unveiled four €1 stamps 
titled Irish Scientific Discoveries, which highlight recent scientific 
discoveries made by scientists who work in pioneering research and 
development in Ireland.

	 Minister for Finance and Public Expenditure and Reform, Paschal 
Donohoe TD, and ADAPT, the SFI Research Centre for Digital 
Content Technology led by TCD, announced a new Financial 
Technology research programme, FinTech Fusion. It will encourage 
breakthroughs in payment (PayTech), regulation (RegTech) and 
insurance (InsureTech) technologies by accelerating scientific 
progress and enabling data-driven research.

	 Science Foundation Ireland and ten other European research funding 
organisations announced the launch of the European Commission 
and European Research Council-supported cOAlition S, to make full 
Open Access to research publications a reality.

	 Minister Humphreys launched the SFI Future Innovator Prize, a new 
€1 million challenge-based prize programme calling on researchers to 
develop innovative approaches to Ireland’s societal challenges. 

	 TCD researchers hosted the Schrodinger at 75 conference at the 
National Concert Hall, with support from Science Foundation Ireland, 
which featured five Nobel Prize winning speakers.

Pictured: Axieh Bagasol, a 
Research Assistant and I-Form 
MSc student, with Minister 
Halligan at the launch of the 
I-Form SFI Research Centre for 
Advanced Manufacturing,  
led by UCD.

Kostal, the Limerick-based manufacturer of automotive 
electronic systems, announced a major €800,000 R&D 
programme with Lero, the SFI Research Centre for Software led 
by UL, to develop a smart assembly line of the future. 

 July

	 EU Commissioner for Agriculture & Rural 
Development, Phil Hogan, launched the first 
of nine regional SmartAgriHubs at Waterford 
Institute of Technology (WIT), as part of a €20 
million project.

	 Science Foundation Ireland supported the first 
ever International Day for LGBTQ+ people in 
STEM, celebrating the achievements of members 
of the community. 
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October

	 Minister for Agriculture, Food and the Marine, Michael 
Creed TD, launched the new VistaMilk SFI Research Centre 
in Teagasc, Moorepark, Co. Cork, jointly funded by Science 
Foundation Ireland and his Department.

	 Minister Creed launched the new €22.2 million BEACON 
Bioeconomy SFI Research Centre at the National 
Bioeconomy Campus in Lisheen, Co. Tipperary, as part of 
the inaugural Bioeconomy Ireland Day. 

	 Minister Creed launched Microbe Mom, a joint therapeutic research investment of €3.4 
million through the SFI Spokes Programme and leading Irish company Alimentary Health 
Group, led by the SFI Research Centre APC Microbiome Ireland at UCC.

November

	 Minister Humphreys launched FutureNeuro, the SFI 
Research Centre for Chronic and Rare Neurological 
Diseases led by RCSI.

	 Science Foundation Ireland invited the Irish public  
to #StopAndAsk questions about the world around  
them for national Science Week, with researchers 
discussing answers.

	 A new RTÉ series ‘Growing Up, Live’ aired as part of Science 
Week 2018 to explore the extraordinary development of 
humans from birth to death.

December

	 A Memorandum of Understanding was signed between the Higher Education Authority (HEA) and 
Science Foundation Ireland to formalise their commitment to advancing the Irish higher education 
research system.

	 SFI Research Professor, Séamus Davis, was announced to lead a pioneering research programme  
to study Quantum Materials for Quantum Technology, in a joint appointment with UCC, the 
University of Oxford and a European Research Council Advanced Grant award.

	 A research collaboration to significantly impact how 
MRSA and other superbugs are controlled and prevented 
in hospital and community settings was announced 
between AMBER, the SFI Research Centre for Advanced 
Materials and Bioengineering Research led by TCD,  
and KASTUS.

	 Science Foundation Ireland supported SCI:COM 
2018, with keynote speakers such as the US 
actor and science communicator, Alan Alda.
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Science Foundation Ireland supports excellent science that delivers transformative societal and 
economic impact for Ireland, working to address global challenges. We seek to inspire and support 
excellent research and discovery that makes a difference to our world.

1. 2018 Table of  
Country Rankings 

(Top 20 Countries – InCites Essential  
Science Indicators) 

Countries-Territories Rank

Iceland 1
Switzerland 2
Scotland 3
Netherlands 4
Denmark 5
Singapore 6
Wales 7
England 8
Belgium 9
USA 10
Sweden 11
Ireland 12
Estonia 13
Northern Ireland 14
Austria 15

2. Field Specific  
Global Excellence   

Science Foundation Ireland’s ranking statistics are 
gathered via InCites by Clarivate Analytics:

1st Immunology

2nd Agricultural Sciences

3rd Nanotechnology

5th Materials Sciences

7th Microbiology

8th Neuroscience and Behaviour

8th Molecular Biology and Genetics

9th Basic Medical Research

11th Chemistry

Overview of 2018

Excellent Science

SFI Researcher of the Year  
Award 2018

Prof Linda Doyle, Dean of Research, TCD, is pictured 
with Prof John Boland, School of Chemistry, TCD. 
A former Director of the Centre for Research on 
Adaptive Nanostructures and Nanodevices (CRANN) 
and the AMBER SFI Research Centre, Prof Boland 
was announced as recipient of the SFI Researcher of 
the Year Award in November 2018. 
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3. Publications and Citations
The strong performance of Science Foundation Ireland’s funded-researchers in scientific 
publications and citations is evidence that we are achieving significantly on a comparative 
international level.

Overview of 2018

Country Funder # Documents in  
Web of Science

Documents in  
the Top 1%

Ireland All            181,071 1.71

Ireland Science Foundation Ireland              18,026 2.66

USA All        9,659,152 1.78

USA National Science Foundation            552,738 2.89

USA National Institutes of Health            831,835 2.88

Switzerland All            566,747 2.63

Denmark All            313,829 2.47

Singapore All            235,214 2.20

United Kingdom All        2,682,452 1.83

Finland All            245,252 1.78

New Zealand All            175,858 1.76

Israel All            288,086 1.65

China All        4,002,157 1.06

EU All      11,258,058 1.26

EU European Research Council              72,787 4.82

Source: InCites by Clarivate Analytics

Science Foundation Ireland-funded publications are 2.66 times more likely to be star 
publications than the global average (based on publications in the top 1% of most cited 
publications, globally). The Irish national average is 1.71.

4,881 publications reported  
by Science Foundation Ireland’s researchers in 2018. 
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Celebrating 26 
of Ireland’s most 
highly cited 
researchers

In 2018, 26 Science Foundation Ireland-
funded researchers were listed by 
Clarivate Analytics in their world list of 
Highly Cited Researchers, positioning 
them in the very highest strata of 
influence and impact. 

The list, as determined by their peers around 
the globe, recognises world-class researchers 
for their exceptional research performance, 
demonstrated by the production of multiple 
highly cited papers that rank in the top 1% by 
citations for field.  

The overall global list and citation analysis is in 
its fifth year and includes 17 Nobel Laureates. 
It identifies influential researchers who are 
leading the way in solving the world’s biggest 
challenges. 33 Irish researchers were featured in 
the 2018 list, with 26 of these being supported by 
Science Foundation Ireland, demonstrating the 
incredibly high standard of research excellence it 
supports. The 26 researchers included are:

Pictured are seven of the ten APC 
Microbiome Ireland SFI Research 
Centre researchers named in the 
2018 World List of Most Highly Cited 
Researchers. Pictured (l-r): Prof Paul 
Ross, Prof Catherine Stanton, Dr Paul 
Cotter, Prof Elke Arendt, Prof John 
Cryan, Dr Orla O’Sullivan and Prof 
Colin Hill.

SPOTLIGHT ON EXCELLENCE

	 Elke K Arendt, UCC

	 Paula Bourke, TU Dublin

	 Andrew G Bowie, TCD

	 Nigel P Brunton, Teagasc

	 Yvonne M Buckley, TCD

	 Jonathan N Coleman, TCD

	 Aiden Corvin, TCD

	 Paul D Cotter, Teagasc

	 John F Cryan, UCC

	 Henry J Curran, NUI Galway

	 Kenneth A Dawson, UCD

	 Timothy Dinan, UCC

	 Georg S Duesberg, TCD

	 Padraic G Fallon, TCD

	 Gerald F Fitzgerald, UCC

	 Colin Hill, UCC

	 Derek W Morris, TCD

	 Colin D O’Dowd, NUI Galway

	 Luke AJ O’Neill, TCD

	 Orla O’Sullivan, Teagasc

	 Paul W O’Toole, UCC

	 Paul R Ross, UCC

	 Catherine Stanton, Teagasc

	 Da-Wen Sun, UCD

	 Brijesh K Tiwari, Teagasc

	 Michael J Zaworotko, UL

A new SFI Science Policy Research 
Programme was launched in 2018 with an 
investment of €2.8 million. Pictured:  Prof 
John McHale (NUIG), Prof Helena Lenihan 
(UL), Prof Kalpana Shankar, (UCD), with 
Prof Mark Ferguson (Director General of 
Science Foundation Ireland and Chief 
Scientific Adviser to the Government of 
Ireland), and awardee, Dr Alma McCarthy 
(NUIG).

Overview of 2018
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	 Catherine Stanton, Teagasc
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	 Michael J Zaworotko, UL

A new SFI Science Policy Research 
Programme was launched in 2018 with an 
investment of €2.8 million. Pictured:  Prof 
John McHale (NUIG), Prof Helena Lenihan 
(UL), Prof Kalpana Shankar, (UCD), with 
Prof Mark Ferguson (Director General of 
Science Foundation Ireland and Chief 
Scientific Adviser to the Government of 
Ireland), and awardee, Dr Alma McCarthy 
(NUIG).

Science Foundation Ireland invests in world-
class talent to drive ideas and innovation, and 
to explore, develop and share knowledge to 
greater effect, for the benefit of all. One of the 
most significant and important outcomes from 
investing in research is the training of highly 
skilled PhD graduates for advanced high-value 
industry in Ireland. We need a strong pipeline of 
excellent talent which can drive competitiveness 
and productivity in Ireland. Through Science 
Foundation Ireland’s investment in talent, we 
are futureproofing our economy and society.

Overview of 2018

Talent and Skills

New Programmes Launched in 2018 – 
Talent Pipeline

Science Foundation Ireland developed the new 
SFI Centres for Research Training Programme to 
increase and support PhDs and nurture early career 
talent, meeting the data skills needs of industry. First 
students will start in September 2019.

The SFI-EPSRC Centres for Doctoral Training is a joint 
UK-Ireland initiative. Science Foundation Ireland will 
fund students based at an SFI Research Centre who 
will be integrated into the CDT, with training taking 
place in both the UK and Ireland. Student intake will 
commence in 2019.

4,924 

Futureproofing the STEM pipeline in Ireland

people working on Science Foundation  
Ireland supported projects

1,610
Postgraduate (PhD 
and Masters) students 
supported by Science 
Foundation Ireland – 
31% went to industry 
as 1st destination

1,161
Postdoctoral Researchers

507 SFI Award Holders

259 Funded Investigators

126 Co-Principal Investigators

Industry continues to be the single largest 
destination (26% of team leavers)
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SPOTLIGHT ON EXCELLENCE

First Joint 
Appointment 
for SFI Research 
Professorship

World-leading experimental quantum 
physicist, Prof Séamus Davis, was recruited 
by Science Foundation Ireland in December 
2018, through the SFI Research Professorship 
Programme and via an SFI Infrastructure 
Award. 

This significant appointment sees Prof Davis bring a 
wealth of knowledge and expertise to Ireland, where 
at UCC he is spearheading a pioneering research 
programme to study quantum materials for 
quantum technology, in a joint appointment with 
the University of Oxford, via a European Research 
Council Advanced Grant Award. It is the first joint 
appointment under the SFI Research Professorship 
Programme.

Obtaining a BSc in Physics at UCC in 1983, Séamus 
Davis would go on to become a global leader in the 
field of quantum matter. For the past 10 years Prof 
Davis was the James Gilbert White Distinguished 
Professor of Physical Sciences at Cornell University 
and Senior Physicist at DOE’s Brookhaven National 
Laboratory. He is a Fellow of the prestigious US 
National Academy of Sciences. In 2005 he was awarded 
the Fritz London Memorial Prize, the greatest honour in 
low-temperature physics, and in 2009 he was awarded 
the Kamerlingh Onnes Prize. In 2016 he was a recipient 
of the prestigious SFI St. Patrick’s Day Science Medal for 
his dedication to physics. 

Prof Davis’ programme will enhance the growing 
reputation in Ireland for quantum materials and 
quantum technology research, focusing on direct, 
atomic-scale visualisation of electronic states in 
quantum materials, which requires a highly specialised 
ultra-low-vibration (ULV) laboratory environment. Prof 
Davis believes that the rapidly accelerating second 
quantum revolution promises truly transformative 
advances in science, industry, economy and society.

Prof Davis will work directly with researchers at various 
SFI Research Centres, including the Irish Photonics 
Integration Centre (IPIC), which is hosted at the Tyndall 
National Institute (TNI) in Cork, placing Ireland at the 
forefront of research in quantum technology.

Overview of 2018
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Attracting Overseas Talent
In 2018, four awards were made under the SFI 
President of Ireland Future Research Leaders 
Programme, representing a €6.2 million investment, 
to support early career researchers. The programme 
is designed to attract outstanding new and emerging 
research talent to Ireland, recognising early career 
researchers who have displayed exceptional 
leadership potential at the frontiers of knowledge.

The awardees were: Dr Suzanne Cloonan, Dr David 
Loane (both at TCD), Dr Joanne Masterson (Maynooth 
University) and Dr Stephen Redmond (UCD). 
The programme will also support the additional 
recruitment of 17 research positions, focusing on 
areas such as chronic lung disease, immunology, 
gastrointestinal disorders and improved prosthetics/
robotic limbs.

SFI Research Professorship 
Programme Attracting Star 
Researchers

Prof Murray W. Hitzman - UCD
In 2018, world-leading geologist, Prof Murray W. 
Hitzman was recruited to Ireland under the SFI 
Research Professorship Programme to take up a 
position as Director of the iCRAG, the SFI Centre 
for Research in Applied Geosciences, led by UCD. 
Formerly the Associate Director for Energy and 
Minerals at the US Geological Survey, Prof Hitzman 
was awarded the Haddon Forrester King Medal by the 
Australian Academy of Sciences in 2016.

Prof John Dalton - NUI Galway
ERC awardee, Prof John Dalton was awarded an SFI 
Research Professorship in 2018, bringing his work to 
NUI Galway to develop new environmentally friendly 
vaccine strategies to combat parasitic diseases 
of animals and humans. Formerly a Professor in 
Infectious Diseases and Director of Research at 
Queen’s University Belfast (QUB), he has secured over 
€7 million in competitive research funding.

Advocating for Greater  
Equality and Diversity 
Science Foundation Ireland aims to play a strong 
role in addressing diversity and gender imbalance 
in STEM. To this end, Science Foundation Ireland is 
supportive of the Athena SWAN initiative which is 
endorsed by Irish Research Bodies. As part of Science 
Foundation Ireland’s decision making processes, 
subject matter experts who participate in either 
remote or panel reviews are briefed on unconscious 
bias, ensuring that all applicants deemed excellent 
and impactful are recommended for funding.

	 The most recent analysis of award holders 
shows that 26% are female – Science 
Foundation Ireland’s target is 30%

	 Science Foundation Ireland has published a 
Gender Dashboard providing an analysis of the 
review process between 2011 and 2018

	 The SFI Starting Investigator Research Grant 
(SIRG) Programme includes a gender initiative 
which incentivises the Research Bodies to 
nominate excellent female candidates by 
permitting a maximum of six (out of a possible 
12) male candidates to the funding call

	 37% of team members associated with Science 
Foundation Ireland awards were female in 2018

 	 The SFI Centres for Research Training 
Programme call was launched in 2018. It 
required applicants to submit gender targets 
for different levels of their research teams 

A cross section of initiatives will ensure that 
researchers are embedded in an environment that 
promotes gender equality, supported by appropriate 
role models and mentors.

See more at http://www.sfi.ie/funding/sfi-policies-and-
guidance/gender/.

Overview of 2018
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Due to technological advances and scientific discovery, the world we live in is rapidly changing. 
Creativity, talent, the ability to innovate and to understand science will be required to ensure 
citizens can fully participate in our society and economy, both now and in the future. Science 
Foundation Ireland’s overarching aim across all of the work that it supports, is to contribute to 
the betterment of society and to help foster an engaged and informed public that values research. 
Science Foundation Ireland’s education and public engagement programme, SFI Discover, 
empowers people to explore, innovate and collaborate for a better future. Science Foundation 
Ireland will thus ensure Ireland is an innovation leader, futureproofing the STEM pipeline. 

Education and Public Engagement

€3.59 million 

invested in 41 STEM 
projects through the  
annual SFI Discover 
Programme Call 

641 primary 
schools achieved 
an SFI Discover Primary 
Science and Maths Award 

European Space 
Education Resource 
Office (ESERO) DPSM 
Ireland delivered 
continuous professional 
development to 3,032 
primary teachers in

273 schools

The Science Foundation 
Ireland - RTÉ partnership 
produced documentaries 
and TV shows such as 
Big Week on the Farm 
and My Broken Brain, 
reaching approx. 

two million 
viewers in Ireland  

Science Foundation Ireland-funded researchers’ education 
and public engagement increased 20% with 1,830 activities.

Sixteen citizens and community groups tell 
TDs why evidence matters 
During Science Week 2018, Minister John Halligan TD, 
welcomed 16 people from around Ireland to present to TDs, 
Ministers and officials in Leinster House about why evidence 
matters to the public, and its importance for informing 
government policy makers on topics such as housing, health 
and the environment. 

Science Foundation Ireland manages and 
coordinates the national programme for 
Science Week. 

	 1,400 events with 12 regional  
science festivals 

	 #StopAndAsk social media campaign

	 200+ roadshows, workshops  
and demos across 24 counties

#StopAndAsk

Overview of 2018
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Overview of 2018

SPOTLIGHT ON STEM EDUCATION

CÚRAM’s Teachers 
in Residence 
Programme
CÚRAM, the SFI Research Centre for Medical Devices led 
by NUI Galway, has been running a ‘Teachers in Residence 
Programme’ to bring primary and secondary school teachers 
together in one forum.

Its goal is to inspire and build teachers’ confidence in their 
ability to teach science in the classroom, using more effective 
and engaging methods for students and incorporating examples 
of current, cutting-edge Irish research. 

This is supported through the development of med-tech lesson 
plans and activities by teachers for teachers, which are easily 
implemented into the classroom and linked with the Irish school 
curriculum.

Ten lesson plan kits were co-created by the teachers and CÚRAM 
researchers in the areas of biomaterials, cardiovascular system, 
brain and nervous system, musculoskeletal system and stem 
cells/regenerative medicine. They are freely available online on 
the CÚRAM website. 

32 teachers (15 primary, 17 secondary) have completed the 
module and a further 167 teachers have received training 
through shorter continuous professional development 
workshops.

During the residency, teachers work directly with world-class 
researchers, getting private tours of CÚRAM laboratories and 
attending interactive workshops, to learn about medical device 
research and its impact on healthcare in Ireland and globally. 
Priority is given to teachers who work in schools in under-
represented areas, as identified under Delivering Equality of 
Opportunity in Schools (DEIS) the Action Plan for Educational 
Inclusion.

Teachers visiting the 
CÚRAM SFI Research 
Centre for Medical 
Devices in Galway.

Department of Education and 
Skills and Science Foundation 
Ireland collaborate to promote 
STEM careers campaign 

The SFI Smart Futures STEM Careers 
Awareness Programme launched 
a nationwide #IGetPaidToDoThis 
campaign in collaboration with the 
Department of Education and Skills and 
industry partners to promote a diversity 
of role models and career paths in 
STEM.

The Smart Futures.ie website 
experienced a 52% increase in users 
following the launch of the outdoor 
campaign.
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International collaboration and partnership between industry, funders and academics is at the 
core of excellent research and innovation. Science Foundation Ireland has built several exciting 
international collaborations with innovative global companies, world-leading universities and 
international funding agencies. These partnerships are harnessing valuable knowledge and 
important learning exchange.

Global 
Footprint

International Collaborations 
Science Foundation Ireland’s international collaborations have 
extensive global reach: Europe (65%), North America (19%), 
Asia (9%), Australia and Oceania (4%), South America (2%) and 
Middle East, North Africa, and Greater Arabia (1%). 

3,797 academic-academic 
collaborations reported by SFI researchers  
(up 11%), with over 70% of these with 
international partners.  

51% of non-academic collaborations were 
with partners outside of Ireland – 12% with United 
States, 9% with UK and 30% with other countries. 

UK Partnerships  
and BREXIT 
Science Foundation Ireland has a broad 
range of funding mechanisms designed to 
support UK-Ireland research collaboration. 
In 2018, the €39 million joint UK-Ireland 
investment under the SFI-EPSRC 
Centres for Doctoral Training (CDTs) 
Programme was launched, while other SFI 
Programmes facilitate UK partnerships 
such as the SFI Research Centres and 
Spokes awards, the SFI Centres for 
Research Training (CRTs), the SFI Strategic 
Partnership Awards and the SFI Industry 
Fellowship Awards. Others, such as the 
SFI President of Ireland Future Research 
Leaders Programme and the SFI Research 
Professorship Programme, also support 
joint appointments. 

In 2018, Science Foundation Ireland and the Irish Research 
Council co-hosted the inaugural UK – Ireland Research Funders’ 
Forum to engage with statutory funders from the UK. Pictured 
(l-r): Dr Michael Ryan, Head of International (SFI), Peter Brown, 
Director of the Irish Research Council, Prof Jane Ohlmeyer, Chair 
of the Irish Research Council, Robin Barnett, British Ambassador 
to Ireland, and Prof Andrew Thompson, Executive Chair, Arts 
Humanities Research Council, UK. Photo by Mark Stedman.   
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 Europe
65%

Australia and  
Oceania

4%

North America
19%

South America
2%

Asia
9%

Middle East
North Africa, and  

Greater Arabia
1% 

United Kingdom 
(excluding 
Northern Ireland)

490

United States of 
America

454

Germany 242

France 155

Italy 149

Spain 140

Netherlands 99

Northern Ireland 93

China 89

Australia 73

Canada 67

Sweden 66

Denmark 60

Belgium 49

Switzerland 47

Austria 31

Brazil 31

Poland 29

India 28

Finland 25

Portugal 25

New Zealand 21

Japan 20

Russian 
Federation

17

Norway 16

Hungary 15

Greece 14

Israel 13

Luxembourg 11

Singapore 9

South Africa 9

Czech Republic 8

Slovakia 8

Chile 7

South Korea 
(Republic of 
Korea)

7

Turkey 6

Iran (Islamic 
Republic of)

6

Romania 6

Qatar 4

Macao 4

Estonia 4

Thailand 4

Taiwan, Province 
of China

4

Argentina 4

Serbia 4

United States 
Minor Outlying 
Islands

4

Kazakhstan 4

Slovenia 4

Colombia 3

Cyprus 3

Hong Kong 3

Iceland 2

Malta 2

United Arab 
Emirates

2

Sri Lanka 2

Fiji 2

Latvia 2

Saudi Arabia 2

Algeria 2

Armenia 1

Mexico 1

Bosnia and 
Herzegovina

1

Bulgaria 1

Egypt 1

Vietnam 1

Tunisia 1

Pakistan 1

Mauritius 1

Croatia 1

Mongolia 1

Lebanon 1

Bangladesh 1

Burkina Faso 1

Kuwait 1

Total 2,715

Overview of 2018
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Science Foundation Ireland Launches First Overseas Post

In 2018, Science Foundation Ireland commenced its first overseas 
post in the USA, to identify and facilitate research collaboration 
opportunities and enable Irish researchers to connect more closely 
with US industry, philanthropy and academia, and forge impactful 
international funding partnerships.

SFI US-Ireland Programme 
The US-Ireland Research and Development Partnership is a unique 
initiative involving funding agencies across three jurisdictions: United 
States of America (USA), Republic of Ireland (RoI) and Northern 
Ireland (NI). Under the US-Ireland R&D Partnership Programme, 
a ‘single-proposal, single-review’ mechanism is facilitated by the 
National Science Foundation (NSF) and National Institutes of Health 
(NIH) who accept submissions from tri-jurisdictional (USA, NI and RoI) 
teams to a number of their existing funding programmes. In 2018, 
five awards were made under the SFI US-Ireland R&D Partnership 
Programme with an investment of €2.8 million.

SFI St. Patrick’s Day Science Medal 

In 2018, Prof Margaret Murnane, an 
eminent laser scientist and Professor 
of Physics, Electrical and Computer 
Engineering at University of Colorado; and 
Mr David McCourt, Founder and CEO of 
Granahan McCourt Capital, were awarded 
the SFI St. Patrick’s Day Science Medal, for 
their significant contribution to academia, 
research and industry. The annual Medal 
recognises distinguished Irish scientists, 
engineers or technology leaders living and 
working in the USA. 

In 2018, Prof Margaret Murnane, an eminent 
laser scientist and Professor of Physics, 
Electrical and Computer Engineering at 
University of Colorado; and Mr David McCourt, 
Founder and CEO of Granahan McCourt Capital, 
were awarded the SFI St. Patrick’s Day Science 
Medal, for their significant contribution to 
academia, industry and research. The annual 
Medal recognises distinguished Irish scientists, 
engineers or technology leaders living and 
working in the USA.

€75 million invested across 45 successful partnerships (six Centre to 
Centre) to-date

454 academic collaborations with the USA

290+ MSc and PhD students and postdoctoral researchers supported 

259 collaborations with Industry partners such as Abbvie, Intel, Pfizer, 
Johnson and Johnson, Microsoft and Nokia Bell Labs.

Overview of 2018
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SFI St. Patrick’s Day Science Medal 

In 2018, Prof Margaret Murnane, an 
eminent laser scientist and Professor 
of Physics, Electrical and Computer 
Engineering at University of Colorado; and 
Mr David McCourt, Founder and CEO of 
Granahan McCourt Capital, were awarded 
the SFI St. Patrick’s Day Science Medal, for 
their significant contribution to academia, 
research and industry. The annual Medal 
recognises distinguished Irish scientists, 
engineers or technology leaders living and 
working in the USA. 

SPOTLIGHT ON GLOBAL REACH

SFI-NSFC Partnership  
Tánaiste and Minister for Foreign Affairs 
and Trade, Simon Coveney TD, and 
Minister of State for Trade, Employment, 
Business, EU Digital Single Market and Data 
Protection, Pat Breen TD, announced eight 
new research collaborations forged under 
a new bilateral partnership programme 
between Science Foundation Ireland and 
the National Natural Science Foundation of 
China (NSFC). 

The projects, which will run for four years, will 
support over 30 researchers in areas of strategic 
importance to the People’s Republic of China and 
Ireland. 

The Programme represents a joint investment 
made by the Irish government through Science 
Foundation Ireland to the value of €8.6 million 
and ¥31,920,000 (ca. €4,273,000) from the NSFC. 
Ireland’s engagement with China has grown from 
strength to strength in recent years, with China 
now ranking as Ireland’s largest trading partner in 
Asia. Collaboration and partnership in RD&I is vital 
for expanding this relationship.

China’s emphasis on high technology systems, 
particularly in green-tech is extremely 
complimentary to Ireland’s research prioritisation 
and builds on Ireland’s strong international 
reputation as an open and engaging country 
for research and development. The selected 
research projects focus on the areas of wireless 
and optical communications, artificial intelligence, 
micro and nano-electronics, climate change, 
green energy, and nano-materials for biomedical 
applications. Four academic institutions in Ireland 
will collaborate with six institutions across the 
People’s Republic of China to carry out this work. 
The Programme supports excellent collaborative 
scientific research that has potential economic 
and societal impact and builds capacity, expertise 
and mutually beneficial relationships between 
Ireland-based and China-based researchers, that 
will contribute to global science and economic 
development in both countries. 

Pictured (l-r): Minister Pat Breen TD, Dr Ciarán Seoighe 
(SFI), Tánaiste Simon Coveney TD, with Madam Hua 

Yang, Charge d’Affaires, Embassy of the Peoples 
Republic of China.

Conferences and Workshops 

Science Foundation Ireland award holders 
organised 592 national and 334 international 
conferences, workshops and seminars in 2018, up 
16% from 2017. 

64% in Ireland 19% in Europe

17% Rest of World

926
Number of 

Conferences
& Workshops

Organised

Overview of 2018

   Science Foundation ireland      |      annual report 2018      |       page 23 



Through deep Industry-academic engagement, Science Foundation Ireland-funded research is 
positively transforming society and the economy; cultivating a diverse research ecosystem that 
fosters innovation and knowledge exchange, futureproofing STEM skills and creating high-value 
jobs. Spanning the Irish regions, this activity supports high-growth SMEs and attracts foreign direct 
investment via large multinationals. 

Driving 
Competitiveness 

Non-academic Collaborations

1,927 collaborations with 
1,224 distinct organisations 
(attributed to SFI awards) 

1,715 are industry 
collaborations, 1,003 with 
MNCs and 712 with SMEs

Innovation and 
Commercialisation
Science Foundation Ireland-funded researchers 
have delivered:

12 spin-out companies 

5 start-up companies 

51 patents

53 licenced technologies 

174 invention disclosures

5 standards 

€1 million SFI Future Innovator 
Prize to address societal 
challenges
In September 2018, a new challenge-based 
competition, the SFI Future Innovator Prize, was 
launched to incentivise Ireland’s best and brightest 
unconventional thinkers and innovators, through 
collaboration and convergence of knowledge in multi-
disciplinary teams; to develop novel, and potentially 
disruptive technologies to address significant societal 
issues that are of strategic importance to Ireland.

12 awards were made in 2018 under this Call with a €3.1 
million prize fund, from the Department of Business, 
Enterprise and Innovation for the winning project.

SFI Technology Innovation 
Development Awards (TIDA) 
Science Foundation Ireland announced an investment 
of €4.5 million in funding for 38 research projects 
to support the commercialisation of government-
funded research, through the SFI TIDA Programme. It 
enables researchers to focus on the initial stages of an 
applied research project which may have a commercial 
benefit if further developed. 

Overview of 2018

TIDA recipient, Dr 
Lynne O’Shea (UCD) 
is developing a non-
invasive commercial test 
to improve pregnancy 
success rates when using 
assisted reproductive 
technologies.
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SFI Industry Fellowship 
In 2018, Minister for Business, Enterprise 
and Innovation, Heather Humphreys TD, 
launched the SFI Industry Fellowship 
Programme call, providing industry partners 
with access to innovative researchers and 
cutting-edge technology in Irish academic 
institutions. Over 149 industry partnerships 
have been forged to-date with companies 
such as Analog Devices and Pilot Photonics. 
50% of the awards made have been with 
SME partners. Projects span topics such as 
renewable energy, cancer research, and 
environmental sensors. 21 awards were made 
in 2018 with an investment of €1.8 million. 

Overview of 2018

Strategic Partnerships and Collaborations 
One award was made under the SFI Strategic Partnership Programme in 2018, with an investment of €1.6 
million from Science Foundation Ireland and industry cash co-investment of €1.2 million. At the end of 2018, 
Science Foundation Ireland had awarded a cumulative 20 Strategic Partnerships with industry, including nine 
Pfizer awards, with a total industry contribution of over €25 million. 

Supporting Regional and Rural Development

Minister for Finance, Public Expenditure and 
Reform, Paschal Donohoe TD, launched the 
FINTECHNEXT research collaboration under 
the SFI Strategic Partnership Programme. A €3 
million financial technology (fintech) research 
collaboration between technology company 
Fexco (headquartered in Killorglin Co Kerry), 
UCC and Science Foundation Ireland (SFI), it 
will also gain critical knowledge and expertise 
provided by researchers at the Cork University 
Business School (CUBS) within UCC. 12 newly 
appointed researchers will work to disrupt three 
key fintech verticals: Treasury and FX, Digital 
Taxation, and Corporate Asset Administration. 
The project reinforces the Government’s Action 
Plan for Rural Development through economic 
growth and high skill job creation and will run 
for four years.

Pictured (l-r): Dr Ciarán Seoighe, Deputy Director General, 
Science Foundation Ireland, Minister for Finance, Public 
Expenditure and Reform, Paschal Donohoe TD, Mr Denis 
McCarthy, Chief Executive, Fexco, and Prof John O’Halloran, 
Deputy President, UCC. Photo by Valerie O’Sullivan.
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SFI Research 
Centres have 
drawn down 

approximately 

€136.2 
million 

in cumulative 
Horizon 2020 

funding

External Funding Secured by  
SFI-Funded Researchers in 2018  

 Total Funding 
Secured by PI (€)

Private Enterprise 45,847,263

European Union 97,601,035

Wellcome Trust 4,662,369

Health Research Board 5,286,532

National Institute of Health USA 1,131,934

Other International Interest 
Organisation 3,708,892

Other International Government 
Source 2,946,101

Charity/Non-Profit Organisation 
(International) 1,590,125

Charity/Non-Profit Organisation 
(Irish) 5,133,963

Enterprise Ireland – 
Commercialisation and  
Non-Commercialisation Awards

30,594,742

Irish Research Council 11,288,699

Department of Agriculture, Food and 
the Marine 5,015,428

The Department of Communications, 
Climate Action and Environment 2,591,942

Environmental Protection Agency 974,993

Marine Institute 418,850

Higher Education Authority Ireland 321,276

Teagasc 282,000

Other Irish Government Source 5,118,567

Other Source 5,615,122

Grand Total 230,129,833

SFI Generating 
Value for Money
Demonstrating the quality of scientific 
excellence, research relevance and 
quality:

	 Science Foundation Ireland-funded 
researchers competitively won €230 
million from several diverse sources 
(up 31%)

	 Science Foundation Ireland-funded 
researchers secured €97.6 million in 
funding from EU sources  
(up 40%) 

Demonstrating Science Foundation 
Ireland’s return on investment and value 
for money:

	 Funding from non-Irish exchequer 
to Irish exchequer has increased to 
2.5:1, from 1.9:1 in 2017

	 The ratio of national funding to 
international funding is 1:1.7  
up from 1:1.3 

	 Funding from private enterprise was 
€46 million (up 43%) 

Overview of 2018
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SFI Research Centres

The SFI Research Centres 
network represents €434 
million from Science 
Foundation Ireland and an 
industry commitment of 
€235 million.

SFI Research Centres

 

IRISH CENTRE FOR RESEARCH
IN APPLIED GEOSCIENCES

The SFI Research Centres link scientists and engineers in partnerships 
across 850 research bodies across the globe, including eight Irish 
universities and seven Institutes of Technology.

The Centres have signed collaborative research agreements with 730 
companies around the world (197 in Ireland) and attract industry that 
make important contributions to Ireland’s economy, and expanding 
STEM educational and career opportunities.

 

An economic impact report 
on the AMBER SFI Research 
Centre for Advanced 
Materials, led by TCD, found 
that for €108 million State 
investment

€505 million 
was generated in gross 
national output

For every €1 invested by public 
funding agencies and industry 
partners in Lero, the SFI 
Research Centre for Software, 
€5.25 is leveraged back to the 
Irish economy. From 2005-2018, 
it contributed 

€515 million

A ‘15 Years of Impact’ 
report found that APC 
Microbiome Ireland SFI 
Research Centre helps to 
generate €1.2 million for 
the Irish economy

each week
including expenditure 
and taxation impact.

SFI Research Centres
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Combined cumulative KPI results for SFI Research Centres against their 
targets from inception to end of 2018:

SFI Research Centre Outputs Cumulative to DEC-2018

Target Result Performance 
against target

Journal publications 4,090 7,144 175%

Conference publications 3,306 4,212 127%

MSc/MEng graduates 163 118 72%

PhD graduates 484 854 176%

% Trainee departures with industry as first destination 28% 33% 118%

Participations in major EU initiatives 285 336 118%

Coordinations in major EU initiatives 88 84 95%

ERC awards granted 29 26 90%

Funding from non-exchequer, non-commercial sources €196,726,732 €195,865,387 100%

Cash in bank (minimum target) €35,042,853 €61,040,554 174%

% Industry cost share (cash) 9% 17% 184%

% Industry cost share (total) 29% 43% 147%

EI Commercialisation Awards 193 324 168%

Licence agreements 145 182 126%

Spin-out companies formed 31 27 89%

SFI Research Centres have, to-date:

Secured €196 million  
in non-exchequer, non-commercial  
funding and 18 Spoke Awards 

182 licensing agreements + 27 spin-outs  
+ 324 Enterprise Ireland Commercialisation Awards

The VistaMilk SFI Research Centre was 
launched in 2018, co-funded by Science 
Foundation Ireland and the Department 
of Agriculture, Food and Marine, and led 
by Teagasc. Its research focuses on using 
networked, sensor data and machine 
learning to improve pasture-based dairy 
production, for example improving the 
accuracy of predictions of grass growth 
by linking historical and real-time grass-
growth and meteorological data.

SFI Research Centre Looks to the Future of Smart Dairy

SFI Research Centres
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SFI Research Centres have, to-date:

Secured €196 million  
in non-exchequer, non-commercial  
funding and 18 Spoke Awards 

182 licensing agreements + 27 spin-outs  
+ 324 Enterprise Ireland Commercialisation Awards

SPOTLIGHT ON MOTHERS AND BABIES

Microbe Mom - Finding the optimal 
probiotics for pregnant women and 
healthier babies

Microbe Mom - Finding the optimal 
probiotics for pregnant women and 
healthier babies

In October 2018, Minister for Agriculture, Food and the 
Marine, Michael Creed TD, launched a joint research 
investment of €3.4 million through the SFI Spokes 
Programme called Microbe Mom, to improve health 
outcomes for mothers and babies during pregnancy. 

This new therapeutic research project is a four-way 
collaboration between the Alimentary Health Group, 
an innovative Irish healthcare company pioneering 
the discovery and development of proprietary 
microbiome-based products, APC Microbiome Ireland 
SFI Research Centre, Teagasc and University College 
Cork, the UCD Perinatal Research Centre, School of 
Medicine, University College Dublin, and the National 
Institute of Biotechnology Research and Training 
(NIBRT).

This industry-academia collaboration is investigating 
the impact of the mother’s diet and health on her gut 
bacteria and what bacteria she transfers to her baby 
at birth, as well as the impact of specific probiotic 
supplements on the mother’s health, and the most 
likely methods of transfer of bifidobacteria strains 
from mother to baby. While much research to-date 
has addressed the impact of the environment on 
the microbiota (microbes primarily acquired via the 
mother), the Microbe Mom research programme will 
focus on transfer of specific strains of bacteria from 
mother to baby, and in particular, the bifidobacteria 
strains.

Pictured: Dr Sally 
Cudmore, APC 
Microbiome Ireland 
SFI Research Centre, 
UCC; Minister for 
Agriculture, Food and 
the Marine, Michael 
Creed TD, and Dr Paul 
Cotter, Teagasc, APC 
Microbiome Ireland.

SFI Research Centres
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Policy Initiatives

Research Integrity 

	 Science Foundation Ireland completed a series 
of pilot data provenance reviews as part of its 
award management processes. A subject-matter 
expert panel explored the background of a data 
set and discussed the procedures and training 
that support good research practice, during 
a scheduled progress review. This bottom-up 
process helps to ensure the highest standards 
of integrity in all aspects of Science Foundation 
Ireland-funded research. This process will be 
mainstreamed into Science Foundation Ireland’s 
award management procedures during 2019.

 	 Data provenance reviews are being complemented 
by a top down approach whereby independent 
advisers review the policies and procedures that 
are in place at Science Foundation Ireland-funded 
institutions in relation to Research Integrity and 
Research Ethics. This ‘Agreed Upon Procedure’ 
was piloted during 2018 with the support of two 
Irish Higher Education Institutions.

 	 Along with other members of the National 
Research Integrity Forum, Science Foundation 
Ireland has sponsored a three-year National 
Research Integrity training programme provided 
by Epigeum. This initiative will help to ensure that 
Irish researchers are trained to high standards of 
research integrity and ethics.

Open Science

Science Foundation Ireland recognises that the 
societal and economic benefit of research is 
maximised when research outputs can be accessed 
by everyone. During 2018, Science Foundation 
Ireland partnered with other international funding 
organisations to support Plan S5, in a move towards 
full and immediate open access. Our most recent 
analysis shows that 45% of the Science Foundation 
Ireland-funded original and review articles published 
in 2018 were open access, which represents an 
improvement on previous years.

 Science Foundation Ireland supports that research 
data should be Findable, Accessible, Interoperable 
and Reusable (FAIR6). Appropriate data management 
and data sharing are fundamental to all stages of 
the research process and support high quality, 
reproducible research. As such, 2018 has seen 
Science Foundation Ireland require applicants to 
the SFI Research Centres Phase II call to submit Data 
Management Plans, describing the procedures for 
data collection, storage, sharing and preservation.

Overview of 2018

5     https://www.coalition-s.org/

6   European Commission (2018) Turning FAIR into Reality: Final Report and Action Plan from the European Commission 
Expert Group on FAIR Data. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.https://doi.org/10.2777/1524
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Governance Statement and 
Board Members’ Report, 
Organisational Structure and 
Statutory Notices 

Science Foundation Ireland Board Members* 

Ms Bernie Cullinan 

Deputy Chairman of Science Foundation Ireland,  
CEO of Pragma Advisory

Ms Bernie Cullinan is the CEO of Pragma Advisory, a company providing strategic 
advisory services and solutions for companies in the SME sector in a broad range of 
domains. Bernie is also Chairman of Crest Solutions Ltd., Crest Solutions (T.S) UK Ltd., 
Print Inspector Ltd., the Pharmaceutical Training Academy Ltd. and Chairman of Lafferty 
Architects and Project Management. Bernie is on the Board of Benefacts Ltd., a not-
for-profit company and the Board of the DCU Educational Trust. She has held C-level 
positions in several Irish technology companies and continues to be active in this sector. 
She has played a key role in driving growth and shareholder value in the US, UK and 
Ireland and is a past Chairman of the Irish Software Association. Bernie has a BComm 
from UCD, an MBA from UCD and is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Management 
Accountants (CIMA). 

Prof Mark W.J. Ferguson

Director General of Science Foundation Ireland and Chief Scientific 
Adviser to the Government of Ireland

Prof Mark Ferguson is the Director General of Science Foundation Ireland and Chief 
Scientific Adviser to the Government of Ireland. Recently he served on the EU High 
Level Group on the impact of H2020 and chaired international committees reviewing 
the Research and Innovation systems of Denmark, Hungary and Canada. Previously 
a Professor and Dean of Biological Sciences at The University of Manchester, he was 
co-founder and CEO of Renovo Group Plc. Prof Ferguson is the recipient of numerous 
international research prizes and awards, including the 2002 European Science Prize 
(jointly), author of 329 papers and book chapters, 61 patent families, author/editor of 
eight books, supervised 77 PhD students and has been awarded over £70 million in 
competitive research grants and approximately £100 million in start-up company equity 
funding. Prof Ferguson graduated from Queens University of Belfast with degrees in 
Dentistry (BDS 1st class honours), Anatomy and Embryology (BSc 1st class honours, 
PhD) and Medical Sciences (DMedSc), and holds Fellowships from the Royal Colleges 
of Surgeons in Ireland (FFD), and Edinburgh (FDS) and is a Founding Fellow of the UK 
Academy of Medical Sciences (FMedSci). He is a member or Fellow of a number of 
learned Societies and was made a “Commander of the British Empire” (CBE) by the 
Queen in 1999 for services to Health and Life Sciences.

* As of May 2019
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Mr Aidan W. Donnelly

Managing Director of Advest Management Ltd. 

Aidan Donnelly is the Managing Director of Advest Management Ltd., a private 
equity fund management company. In addition, he was Chairman of NORA, the Irish 
government agency responsible for Ireland’s National Oil Reserves and has interests in 
renewable and environmental start-up companies. Aidan has extensive experience in the 
development and management of technology-oriented multinationals in Ireland such 
as Xerox (Europe) Ltd., Quantum Peripheral Products Ltd., Puritan Bennett, Cabletron 
Systems, Betdaq (Global Betting Exchange Ltd.) and most recently, ServeCentric Ltd. 
For over 12 years, Aidan also served in the Irish army, holding the rank of Captain in the 
Army Ordnance Corp. He earned an M.B.A. (UCG), M.I.E. (UCD) and a B.Sc. (UCG) and is a 
Chartered Director (C.Dir.) with the IOD.

Dr Pat Duane

Vice President and General Manager of Interventional with  
Creganna Medical 

Dr Pat Duane is the Vice President and General Manager of Interventional with Creganna 
Medical, part of TE Connectivity. A leading expert in the medical device industry, Pat has 
worked within the sector for over 26 years. Pat is now General Manager for TE Medical’s 
Interventional business, a world leader in the design and supply of minimally invasive 
delivery systems. Prior to his role of VP and GM of Interventional in Creganna Medical, 
Pat was VP, Corporate Development and later VP, Global Operations. During this time, Pat 
led Creganna Medical’s integration with TE Connectivity following its acquisition in 2016. 
Prior to Creganna Medical, Pat spent 12 years with Medtronic and nine years with CR 
Bard where he held several senior management roles in business development and R&D. 
Pat is passionate about innovation and is a named inventor on over 12 internationally 
issued patents. Pat holds a Doctorate in Business from Henley Management College, 
London and his area of interest is the post-acquisition integration of small to medium 
enterprises into multi-national corporations. Pat also holds a Masters in Engineering 
Design from UCD and a BSc. in Applied Physics from NUI Galway.

Ms Máire Geoghegan-Quinn

Former EU Commissioner for Research, Innovation and Science

Appointed SFI Board member in April 2018, Máire Geoghegan-Quinn served as the 
European Commissioner for Research, Innovation and Science from 2010-2014. 
As Commissioner she established the ‘Innovation Union’ initiative; progressed 
the European Research Area; and delivered the largest ever research framework 
programme, Horizon 2020, with a 30% budget increase (€80 billion in total for research 
and innovation). She had political responsibility for two directorates general – the 
Directorate General for Research and Innovation and the Joint Research Centre. Máire 
previously served as a Fianna Fáil TD for the Galway West constituency (1975–1997); 
and held several Ministerial positions including: Minister for the Gaeltacht (1979–1981), 
becoming the first female Cabinet Minister since the foundation of the Irish State; 
Minister for European Affairs (1987–1991); and Minister for Justice (1993–1994). She 
holds a Degree of Doctor of Laws from NUI Galway, a degree of Doctor of Science from 
UCD (both honoris causa); and the Légion d’honneur among other awards. She is a 
Member of the European Joint Research Centre (JRC) Alumni Network and an Honorary 
Fellow of the Royal College of Physicians of Ireland.
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Mr Dermot Mulligan

Assistant Secretary General, Dept. of Business, Enterprise and 
Innovation 

Dermot Mulligan is Head of the Innovation and Investment Division of the Department 
of Business, Enterprise and Innovation. He reports to the Secretary General of the 
Department and the Minister and his areas of responsibility include formulation and 
implementation of Government policy on Innovation (including Science, Technology, 
Research and Development), Foreign Direct Investment and North/South Trade. He has 
previously worked in a range of Government Departments including the Departments 
of Health, Finance and Education and Skills. He holds a first degree in Law and an M.Sc. 
(Economics) in Policy Studies from TCD and an MBA from the University of Warwick.

Prof Sir Tom Blundell

Director of Research and Professor Emeritus in Biochemistry, 
University of Cambridge 

Prof Sir Tom Blundell has previously held teaching and research positions in the 
Universities of London, Sussex and Oxford and leads an active research team in 
structural and computational biology in the Department of Biochemistry, Cambridge 
University. He was co-founder of Astex Therapeutics in 1999, which sold for $886 million 
to Otsuka. Tom remains on the Board and has a breast cancer drug on the market 
world-wide and eight in clinical trials.  He has also been a member of several Boards 
and Scientific Advisory Boards of both pharma and biotech companies, including SKB, 
Celltech and UCB. Tom has held several prestigious roles in public bodies, including 
Chair of Royal Commission on Environmental Pollution and Charities and a member 
of the advisory group to the Prime Minister. He was founding CEO and Chair of the UK 
Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council. Tom Blundell was knighted 
in 1997 and is a member of several academies. He has received numerous international 
awards, prizes, medals and honours for his research work and holds Honorary 
Doctorates from 16 universities. Recent awards include the Ewald Prize and the 
Shizhang Bei International Award for Contributions to Biophysics.

Mr Barry O’Sullivan, 

Managing Director, Palo Alto Technology Partners

Barry O’Sullivan is Managing Director of Palo Alto Technology Partners, a technology 
and investment consulting firm.  He is also a Senior Adviser at Permira LLC, a global 
investment firm. Prior to his current role, Barry was CEO and founder of Altocloud, 
an artificial intelligence software company with a mission of improving customer 
engagement. Prior to Altocloud, Barry was SVP at Cisco Systems and has been General 
Manager of several multi-billion dollar divisions, including Collaboration and Voice over 
IP, which he led from number six to the number one market share position worldwide. 
Barry has spent most of his career in Silicon Valley and is co-founder of the Irish 
Technology Leadership Group. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in electrical engineering 
from UCC and a Masters degree in computer science from UL, as well as a Master’s 
degree in business administration from Santa Clara University, California. 
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Mr Liam Madden 

Executive Vice President and General Manager of the Wired and 
Wireless Group at Xilinx

Liam Madden leads a worldwide organisation of R&D professionals, including 
teams in Dublin and Cork, and as GM is also responsible for approximately $1 billion 
in revenue. Mr Madden has spent more than 30 years in the US semiconductor 
industry where he has contributed to a range of industry leading products and 
technologies. Based in Silicon Valley, he has worked with established companies 
and start-ups, including a leadership role in a successful IPO. Mr Madden is a regular 
speaker at university and industry events worldwide. He holds five patents in 
semiconductor technology. He is a Fellow of Engineers Ireland and from February 
2013 to February 2018 was an Adjunct Professor of Electrical, Electronic and 
Communication Engineering at UCD.

Ms Mary Doyle

Former Deputy Secretary General, Dept. of Education and Skills

Ms Mary Doyle sits on the SFI Board as the appointee of the Minister for Education 
and Skills. Mary took up her role in the Department of Education and Skills in June 
2012 where she led the Higher Education and Further Education Divisions in the 
Department. She has worked in the Departments of the Taoiseach, Health, and was 
Director General in the Office/ Department of the Minister for Children and Youth 
Affairs. She has been a member of the National Economic and Social Council and 
the National Statistics Board and a Forum Member of the Economic and Social 
Research Institute. She is currently a member of the Board of The Wheel. She holds 
a degree in European Studies from UL and a Masters in Public Service Management 
from TCD/Irish Management Institute.

Ms Grainne McAleese

Head of Finance for UDG Healthcare plc

Grainne McAleese is a senior business leader with experience working 
internationally at executive committee level in financial and leadership roles, 
primarily in the pharmaceutical and biotech industry. Ms McAleese is currently Head 
of Finance for UDG Healthcare plc, a global Irish-headquartered company providing 
innovative outsourced services to healthcare companies. Prior to UDG Healthcare, 
she worked as General Manager for Ireland and Vice President, Finance with Alexion 
Pharmaceuticals, a rare disease US biotech company. Ms McAleese previously spent 
10 years working with Elan Corporation, plc in the United States and Ireland in 
various corporate, strategic and group finance roles, and most recently as Corporate 
Controller and Chief Accounting Officer. Ms McAleese is a Fellow of Chartered 
Accountants Ireland, a Certified Public Accountant in the United States, and holds a 
Bachelors and a Masters degree from DCU.
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Statement on Corporate Governance 
and Board Members’ Report

Governance

The Board of Science Foundation Ireland (SFI) was 
established under the Industrial Development 
(Science Foundation Ireland) Act 2003. The functions 
of the Board are set out in section 7 of this Act, as 
amended. The Board is accountable to the Minister for 
Business, Enterprise and Innovation (“the Minister”) 
and is responsible for ensuring good governance and 
it performs this task by setting strategic objectives 
and targets and taking strategic decisions on all 
key business issues. Section 7(4) of the Act requires 
the Board to comply with such general directives 
relating to policy in the exercise of its functions as 
may be given by the Minister. The regular day-to-
day management, control and direction of Science 
Foundation Ireland are the responsibility of the 
Director General and the senior management team. 
The Board also sets the ethical tone of the Foundation 
by its own actions, but also in overseeing senior 
management and staff to ensure that Science 
Foundation Ireland’s values, good standards of 
governance and ethical behaviours permeate all 
levels of the Foundation. The Director General and the 
senior management team follow the broad strategic 
direction set by the Board and must ensure that all 
Board members have a clear understanding of the 
key activities and decisions related to the entity, and 
of any significant risks likely to arise. The Director 
General acts as a direct liaison between the Board and 
management of Science Foundation Ireland. 

Board Responsibilities 

The work and responsibilities of the Board are set out 
in the Board Manual, which also contains the matters 
specifically reserved for Board decision. Standing 
items considered by the Board include: 

	 Declaration of interests 

	 Reports from Board committees, including 
circulation of minutes 

	 Financial reports/management accounts 

	 Performance reports 

	 Risk register and 

	 Matters reserved for the Board 

Section 24 of the Act requires the Board keep, in such 
form as may be approved by the Minister with consent 
of the Minister for Public Expenditure and Reform, all 
proper and usual accounts of money received and 
expended by it. 

In preparing these financial statements, the Board of 
the Foundation is required to: 

	 Select suitable accounting policies and apply 
them consistently 

	 Make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent 

	 Prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that it will continue in operation, and 

	 State whether applicable accounting standards 
have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the 
financial statements. 

The Board is responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records which disclose, with reasonable 
accuracy at any time, its financial position and enable 
it to ensure that the financial statements comply with 
section 24 of the Act. The maintenance and integrity 
of the corporate and financial information on the 
Foundation’s website is the responsibility of the Board. 
The Board is responsible for approving the annual 
plan and budget. An evaluation of the performance 
of the Foundation by reference to the annual plan 
and budget was carried out on December 10, 2018. 
The Board, principally through the Audit and Risk 
Committee, has assessed the State body’s principal 
risks including a description of these risks where 
appropriate and associated mitigation measures or 
strategies. 

The Foundation is adhering to the relevant aspects 
of the Public Spending Code. The Board is also 
responsible for safeguarding its assets and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities. The Board 
considers that the financial statements of Science 
Foundation Ireland give a true and fair view of the 
financial performance and the financial position of the 
Foundation at 31 December 2018.
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Board Structure and Committees

The Science Foundation Ireland Board normally consists of a Chairman , Deputy Chairman and ten ordinary 
members appointed by the Minister for Business, Enterprise and Innovation, following consultation with the 
Minister for Education and Skills, as set out in Section 8 of the Industrial Development (Science Foundation Ireland) 
Act 2003. The independent non-executive Board Members, national and international, have the necessary and 
complementary skills and expertise to set the strategy and broad policies for the Foundation and oversee its 
operation. The table below details the appointment period for current members:

Board Member Role Date Appointed

Bernie Cullinan Deputy Chairman (w.e.f 
5 December 2018) 07/12/2009 (renewed 24/7/15)

Pat Duane Board Member 29/09/10 (renewed 24/7/15)

Mark Ferguson Director General 16/1/12 (reappointed 16/1/17)

Liam Madden Board Member 01/02/13 (renewed 08/06/17)

Mary Doyle Board Member 05/12/2012 (renewed 23/08/16)

Aidan Donnelly Board Member 05/12/13 (renewed 08/06/17)

Dermot Mulligan Board Member 02/09/15

Barry O’Sullivan Board Member 19/11/14 (renewed 25/7/18)

Tom Blundell Board Member 19/11/14

Maire Geoghegan Quinn Board Member 11/04/18

Grainne McAleese Board Member 25/10/18

The Board reviewed its performance in February 2019 
with the submission of a report on 2018 activities, 
which included a review of the Board Committees 
and the Board members also completed a Board 
Evaluation Questionnaire. The Board has established 
four committees as follows:

Audit and Risk Committee 

The role of the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC), which 
comprise five members, is to support the Board in 
relation to its responsibilities for issues of risk, control 
and governance and associated assurance. The ARC 
is independent from the financial management of 
the organisation and monitors the system of internal 
controls and financial safeguards, oversees the 
internal audit function and the conduct of audits of 
Science Foundation Ireland grants made to external 
institutions. The committee ensures a system to 
monitor risk and provide for mitigating actions is 
in place and kept up-to-date. The committee also 
monitors and reviews Science Foundation Ireland 
financial reports on a regular basis including the 
Annual Financial Statements.

The committee is also responsible for overseeing 
compliance with corporate governance requirements, 
including with the Code of Practice for the Governance 
of State Bodies as updated in September 2016. The 
ARC reports to the Board after each meeting, and 
formally in writing annually. 

The members of the Audit and Risk Committee are: 
Bernie Cullinan (Chairman), Aidan Donnelly, Grainne 
McAleese, Marcus Breathnach and Brendan Harte. (Mr 
Breathnach and Mr Harte are not Board members. Mr 
Breathnach is a representative of the Department and 
Mr Harte is an external committee member). There 
were seven meetings of the ARC in 2018.

Board Nominations Advisory 
Committee 

The Board Nominations Advisory Committee (NAC) 
comprises four members and considers the skillsets 
required on the Board as well as relevant areas of 
expertise and advises the Public Appointments 
Service accordingly when Board vacancies arise. The 
committee reports to the Board after each meeting.

The members of the committee are: Bernie Cullinan 
(Chairman ), Mark Ferguson, Barry O’Sullivan and 
Dermot Mulligan. There were three meetings of the 
committee in 2018. 
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Management Development and 
Remuneration Committee 

The Management Development and Remuneration 
Committee (MDRC) comprises two members and 
reviews the performance of the senior management 
team and oversees planning for management 
development and succession. The committee reports to 
the Board after each meeting. 

The members of the committee are: Bernie Cullinan 
(Chairman) and Aidan Donnelly. There was one meeting 
of the committee in 2018. 

Grant Approval Committee 

The SFI Grant Approval Committee (GAC), which 
comprises five members, is delegated the power to 
approve research grant proposals in line with the 
delegated authority levels approved by the Board. The 
committee reports to the Board after each meeting. 

The members of the committee are: Liam Madden 
(Chairman), Pat Duane, Tom Blundell, Barry O’Sullivan 
and Mark Ferguson. 

There were three meetings of the committee in 2018 
(and on two occasions committee members approved 
grants by email). Martin Lyes, an external member of 
the committee, resigned with effect from 06/03/2019.

A list of awards approved by the Grant Approval 
Committee in 2018 was circulated to the Board for 
information in February 2019. The committee agreed to 
establish a standing time for GAC meetings to coincide 
with Board meeting dates. Where required, these 
meetings are supplemented by telecons during the year. 
The committee completed a review of its effectiveness 
in June 2018 and the outputs of this review included 
further guidance on Conflicts of Interest and a 
programmatic overview provided to the committee.

Schedule of Attendance, Fees  
and Expenses

A schedule of attendance at the Board and committee 
meetings for 2018 is set out below including the fees and 
expenses received by each member:

 

Board Audit 
and Risk 

Committee

Grant 
Approval 

Committee

Board 
Nominations 

Advisory 
Committee

Management 
Development 

and 
Remuneration 

Committee

Fees 
2018

Expenses 
2018

Number of meetings 6 7 3 3 1

Tom Blundell 5 3 11,970 1,399

Pat Duane 6 3 11,970   -

Bernie Cullinan 5 6 1 1 11,970 215

Dermot Mulligan 6 3 - -

Mary Doyle 6 - 114

Liam Madden 5 3 - 30,473

Aidan Donnelly 6 7 1 11,970 150

Barry O’Sullivan 5 3 2 - 311

Maire Geoghegan 
Quinn (appointed 
11/4/18)

4 8,645 800

Grainne McAleese 
(appointed 25/10/18) 1 2,220 -

Mark Ferguson 6 3 3 - -

Ann Riordan (retired 
04/12/18) 5 1 19,031 439

Geraldine Ruane 
(retired 24/7/18) 2 2 - -

TOTAL 77,776 33,901
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Board members are paid fees as determined by the 
Minister for Business, Enterprise and Innovation with 
the consent of the Minister for Public Expenditure and 
Reform. Certain Board members are excluded from 
receiving fees from SFI under the “One Person One 
Salary” remuneration arrangements whereby public 
servants cannot receive Board fees in addition to a 
salary. These are Prof Mark Ferguson, Ms Mary Doyle,  
Ms Geraldine Ruane and Mr Dermot Mulligan. In 
addition, two Board members, Prof Liam Madden and 
Mr Barry O’Sullivan, have waived their Board fees.

Key Personnel Changes:

	 Ms Máire Geoghegan Quinn was appointed to the 
Board on 11th April 2018  

	 Mr Barry O’Sullivan was reappointed to the Board 
on 25th July  

	 Ms Geraldine Ruane retired from the Board on  
24th July 2018  

	 Ms Grainne McAleese was appointed to the Board 
on 25th October 2018 

	 Dr Martin Lyes retired from the Grant Approval 
Committee on 6th March 2019

	 Ms Ann Riordan retired as Chairman of the Board 
on 4th December 2018

Dr Ciarán Seoighe joined Science Foundation Ireland 
as Deputy Director General in January 2018. Dr Darrin 
Morrissey resigned as Director of Programmes with 
Science Foundation Ireland in July 2018. Dr Siobhan 
Roche was appointed as Director of Science for the 
Economy in September 2018. 

Disclosures Required by the Code of 
Practice for the Governance of State 
Bodies (2016) 

The Board is responsible for ensuring that Science 
Foundation Ireland has complied with the requirements 
of the Code of Practice for the Governance of State 
Bodies (2016) as published by the Department of Public 
Expenditure and Reform in August 2016. The following 
disclosures are required by the Code:

Employee Short-Term Benefits 
Breakdown

Employees’ short-term benefits in excess of 
€60,000 are categorised into the following bands:

Number of 
Employees

From                 To 2018 2017

€60,000     -   €69,999 10 12

€70,000     -   €79,999 4 10

€80,000     -   €89,999 - 3

€90,000     -   €99,999 5 5

€100,000   -   €109,999 6 3

€110,000   -   €119,999 1 -

€120,000   -   €129,999 - 2

€140,000   -   €149,999 1 1

€150,000   -   €159,999 1 -

€170,000   -   €179,999 - 1

€180,000   -   €189,999 1 -

Note: For the purposes of this disclosure, short-
term employee benefits in relation to services 
rendered during the reporting period include 
salary, overtime allowances and other payments 
made on behalf of the employee, but exclude 
employer’s PRSI. 
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Consultancy Costs
Consultancy costs include the cost of external advice to management and exclude outsourced  
‘business-as-usual’ functions.

2018 2017
€ €

Legal advice 150,000 172,000

Tax and financial advice 14,000 12,000

Design and project management fees for move to new premises                     178,000      0

SFI Discover Programme evaluation review 36,900 0

Research Integrity advice                                                           21,902 0

Other 30,198 90,000

Total Consultancy costs          431,000          274,000 

Consultancy Costs Capitalised                     -                       -   

Consultancy Costs charges to the Income and Expenditure
and Retained Reserves          431,000          274,000 

Legal Costs and Settlements
Expenditure incurred in relation to general legal advice received by SFI is 
disclosed in Consultancy Costs above. There were no legal cases or settlements 
made in 2018. 

Travel and Subsistence Expenditure

Travel and subsistence expenditure is categorised as follows: 2018 2017
€ €

Domestic
-Board* 9,000 12,000

-Employees 119,000 85,000
International
-Board* 32,000 55,000
-Employees 112,000 96,000

Total 272,000 248,000

* includes travel and subsistence of €2,000 paid directly to Board members 
in 2018 (2017: €3,000). The balance of €39,000 (2017: €64,000) relates to 
expenditure paid by Science Foundation Ireland on behalf of the Board 
members.

Hospitality Expenditure 
The Income and Expenditure Account includes the following  
hospitality expenditure

2018  
€

2017  
€

Staff hospitality 1,000 3,000
Client hospitality                     -                       -   

Total 1 ,000 3,000
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Statement of Compliance

The Board has adopted the Code of Practice for 
the Governance of State Bodies (2016) and has put 
procedures in place to ensure compliance with the 
Code. Science Foundation Ireland was in compliance 
with the Code of Practice for the Governance of State 
Bodies for 2018.

Risk Management 

The Science Foundation Ireland Board has adopted 
the SFI Risk Policy and Strategy, which outlines the 
risk management system in place and sets out the 
roles and responsibilities of the various stakeholders 
involved with the management of risk. It is the policy 
of the Foundation to adhere to risk management best 
practice. The Policy and Strategy sets out the process 
by which the Foundation identifies and addresses 
the key risks attached to its activities. These risks are 
compiled by the Management Risk Committee with 
the input and support of the Executive Committee and 
reported on at regular intervals to the SFI Audit and 
Risk Committee and to the Board, including associated 
mitigation measures, controls and updates. The Board 
has conducted an assessment of Science Foundation 
Ireland’s principal risks including a description of these 
risks where appropriate and associated measures or 
strategies.  
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Organisation Structure 2019

Audit and Risk Committee

Board Nominations Advisory Committee

Management Development and Remuneration Committee

Grant Approval Committee

SFI 
BOARD

Dr Ciarán Seoighe
Deputy Director General

Ms Kim Lavelle
Board Secretary /  
Chief Risk Officer

Prof Mark Ferguson
Director General of Science Foundation 

Ireland and Chief Scientific Adviser to the 
Government of Ireland

Ms Carolyn 
O’Malley

Head of HR and 
Organisational 
Development

Dr Abigail Ruth 
Freeman

Director of Science for 
Society

Dr Siobhan Roche
Director of Science for 

the Economy

Mr Donal Keane
Chief Operations Officer

Dr Michael Ryan 
Head of International 

Dr Lisa Higgins
Head of Challenge Research 

Dr Roisin Cheshire
Head of Individual-led Research 

Dr Peter Clifford
Head of Strategy

Ms Alva O’Cleirigh
Head of Corporate 
Communications 

Ms Margie McCarthy
Head of Education and Public 
Engagement

Dr Marion Boland
Head of Research Policy 

Mr Eric Dowdall 
Chief Information Officer

Ms Joan Hynes 
Head of Finance and Grants

Dr Aisling McEvoy 
Head of Enterprise 
Partnerships

Dr Kevin Walsh
 Head of Research Centres
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Executive Team 

Prof Mark Ferguson  
Director General of Science Foundation Ireland and Chief Scientific Adviser to the Government of Ireland – 
see full profile on page 32.

Dr Ciarán Seoighe - Deputy Director General
Dr Ciarán Seoighe joined Science Foundation Ireland as Deputy Director General in January 2018. In his role 
Ciarán is responsible for Organisational Strategy, Corporate Communications and Science Foundation Ireland’s 
International team. In addition, he deputises for the Director General as required. Ciarán joined Science Foundation 
Ireland after nearly two decades in management consulting with Accenture. He holds a BA (Mod) in Natural Science 
and PhD in Quantum Physics from TCD. In his time with Accenture, in both Ireland and South Africa, Ciarán has 
worked with some of the world’s largest and most successful organisations. He has a wealth of experience across a 
variety of sectors executing large-scale transformation, business re-engineering, strategic and change initiatives.

Mr Donal Keane - Chief Operations Officer
Mr Donal Keane was appointed as Chief Operations Officer at Science Foundation Ireland on 1 November 2005. He 
has responsibility for Financial Control, Financial Management of Grants, Information Systems, IT Networks, Data 
Protection/GDPR and liaison with the Internal Audit Coordinator with respect to internal audits and external grant 
audits. Donal joined Science Foundation Ireland from IADT Dun Laoghaire, where he held the position of Secretary/
Financial Controller from 1997 to 2005. Prior to that Donal held senior management positions at Our Lady of 
Lourdes Hospital Drogheda, GE Capital and Wang Finance in both Dublin and Toronto, Canada. Donal has also been 
a member of the European Science Foundation (Strasbourg) and BBSRC (now part of UKRI) Audit Committees in 
recent years. Donal holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from UCD and is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Ireland.    

Dr Abigail Ruth Freeman - Director of Science for Society 
Dr Abigail Ruth Freeman was appointed Director of Strategy and Communications in 2013, and following 
department restructure in 2018, became Director of Science for Society. Prior to her current appointment, Ruth 
has held a series of positions at Science Foundation Ireland, including Director of Innovation, Communications 
and Education and Director of Programmes, Enterprise and International Affairs, with responsibility for overseeing 
all Science Foundation Ireland research funding programmes and management of funded awards, as well as the 
Foundation’s activities in conjunction with industry and international partners. Ruth joined Science Foundation 
Ireland as a Scientific Programme Manager in November 2006. Prior to joining the Foundation, Ruth worked as a 
researcher at TCD. She holds PhD and Bachelor degrees in Genetics from TCD, where she was awarded a Trinity 
scholarship, the Eli Lilly Chemistry Prize and the Roberts prize for Biology. Ruth’s PhD research, on population 
genetics in hybrid zones, was funded by a prestigious studentship from the Wellcome Trust and was carried out at 
TCD and ILRI, Nairobi.

Dr Siobhan Roche - Director of Science for the Economy
Dr Siobhan Roche was appointed SFI Director of Science for the Economy in 2018. She is responsible for developing 
and implementing Science Foundation Ireland’s strategies on competitive funding programmes, working closely 
with industry partners, including large and small, multinational and indigenous companies, academic researchers 
and other external stakeholders, on collaborations and the co-funding of programmes. Siobhan has worked within 
Science Foundation Ireland for several years, most recently as Head of Post Award and SFI Research Centres, 
following her role as Head of Partnerships and Scientific Programme Manager. Siobhan brings experience as a 
research scientist from both the private sector, where she worked with US-based Exelixis Inc. and a former Irish 
human genome start-up company, Hibergen Inc., and academia where she was a Research Fellow and Group 
Leader at Trinity College Dublin and St Patrick’s Hospital. Siobhan has authored publications in leading, peer-
reviewed journals and holds several international patents. She holds a B.A. Mod in Genetics from TCD and a PhD in 
Molecular and Cell Biology from the University of California at Berkeley (USA).
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Statutory and Other Notices 

1. Board Members – Register of Interests 

The Board operates to the best practice corporate 
governance principles and in accordance with the 
guidelines set out in the Code of Practice 2016 issued 
by the Department of Public Expenditure and Reform, 
both in its activities and in its use of committees. In 
accordance with these guidelines, Science Foundation 
Ireland Board members register their interests in other 
undertakings with the Secretary. 

2.  Ethics in Public Office Acts 1995 and 
Standards in Public Offices Act 2001 

 Science Foundation Ireland became subject to the 
Ethics in Public Office Acts 1995 and 2001 on the 
1 January 2005. Science Foundation Ireland has 
complied with the provisions of the Act.

3.  Freedom of Information Act 1997, Freedom 
of Information (Amendment) Act 2003 and 
Freedom of Information Act 2014 

 Science Foundation Ireland became a prescribed body 
under the Freedom of Information Act 1997 from 31 
May 2006. Science Foundation Ireland complies fully 
with the Act. Requests for information under this 
Act should be addressed to the FOI Officer, Science 
Foundation Ireland, Wilton Park House, Wilton Place, 
Dublin 2. In 2018 SFI received six FOI requests.

Prompt Payment of Accounts Act 1997 

4. (i) Prompt Payment of Accounts Act 1997 

 Science Foundation Ireland comes under the 
remit of the Prompt Payment of Accounts Act 1997 
which came into effect on 2 January 1998, and the 
European Communities (Late Payment in Commercial 
Transactions) Regulations 2002, which came into 
effect on the 7 August 2002. It is the policy of Science 
Foundation Ireland to ensure that all invoices are paid 
promptly. Specific procedures are in place that enable 
SFI to track all invoices and ensure that payments 
are made before the due date. Invoices are registered 
daily and electronic payments are issued as required 
to ensure timely payments. Management is satisfied 
that Science Foundation Ireland complied with the 
provisions of the Act in all material respects. 

4.  (ii) Prompt payment to suppliers 

 Science Foundation Ireland is committed to meeting 
its obligations under the 15-day Prompt Payment Rule, 
which came into effect on 1st July 2011. This provision 
ensures that payments to suppliers in respect of all 
valid invoices received will be made within 15 calendar 

days. Science Foundation Ireland reports quarterly in 
the ‘About Us – Governance - Customer Service’ section 
of the website on the implementation of the 15-day 
Prompt Payments Rule. http://www.sfi.ie/about-us/
governance/customer-service/ 

5.  Employment Equality Acts 1998-2015 

 Science Foundation Ireland wholeheartedly supports 
the principle of equal opportunities in employment. 
It opposes all forms of discrimination on the grounds 
of colour, race, nationality, sexual orientation, ethnic 
or national origin (and/or area of origin), religion, 
gender, marital status, age or disability. Science 
Foundation Ireland’s commitment to implementing 
equal opportunities is reflected in its policies, practices 
and procedures, recruitment, promotion, training, 
use of non-discriminatory language in Foundation 
documents and publications. The objective is to ensure 
that all staff are selected and treated only on the basis 
of their abilities, knowledge and qualifications. 

6.  Protected Disclosures Act 2014 

 There were no protected disclosures made to Science 
Foundation Ireland in 2018. 

7.  Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Act 2005 
and 2010. 

 In accordance with the above Act, Science Foundation 
Ireland in consultation with IDA implements 
appropriate measures to protect the safety, health and 
welfare of all employees and visitors within its offices.

8.  Clients’ Charter 

 Science Foundation Ireland has published a Clients’ 
Charter setting out its commitment to a high-quality of 
service. This charter includes a procedure for dealing 
with complaints. In 2018, no complaints were received 
under the charter. 

9.  Reporting by Public Sector Bodies 

 Under Statutory Instrument (SI) 542, 2009 the public 
sector has specific energy reporting obligations. SFI’s 
offices are located in Wilton Park House, Wilton Place, 
Dublin 2. The building facilities are managed by IDA. 
In each area relevant to energy usage and services to 
the building, SFI is satisfied that IDA endeavours to 
employ the most energy efficient and environmentally 
friendly means available. In compliance with Statutory 
Instrument (SI) 542, 2009, Science Foundation Ireland 
has reported details of energy usage for 2018 through 
the public-sector monitoring and reporting (M&R) 
website.
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Scope of Responsibility

On behalf of the Board of Science Foundation Ireland 
I acknowledge our responsibility for ensuring that 
an effective system of internal control is maintained 
and operated. The responsibility takes account of 
the requirements of the Code of Best Practice for the 
Governance of State Bodies (2016). 

Purpose of the System of Internal 
Control

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk 
to a tolerable level rather than to eliminate it. The system 
can therefore provide only reasonable and not absolute 
assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions 
authorised and properly recorded and that material errors 
or irregularities are either prevented or detected in a timely 
way.

The system of internal control, which accords 
with guidance issued by the Department of Public 
Expenditure and Reform, has been in place in Science 
Foundation Ireland for the year ended 31 December 
2018 and up to the date of approval of the financial 
statements.

Capacity to Handle Risk

Science Foundation Ireland has an Audit and Risk 
Committee (ARC) comprising three Board members 
plus one external appointment with financial and audit 
expertise, one of whom is the Chair. The ARC met seven 
times in 2018.

Science Foundation Ireland has also established an 
internal audit function which is adequately resourced 
and conducts a programme of work agreed with the 
ARC.

The ARC has developed a risk management policy 
which sets out its risk appetite, the risk management 
processes in place and details the roles and 
responsibilities of staff in relation to risk. The policy has 
been issued to all staff who are expected to work within 
Science Foundation Ireland’s risk management policies, 
to alert management on emerging risks and control 
weaknesses and assume responsibility for risks and 
controls within their own area of work.

Risk and Control Framework

Science Foundation Ireland has implemented a risk 
management system which identifies and reports 
key risks and the management actions being taken to 
address and, to the extent possible, to mitigate those 
risks.

A risk register is in place which identifies the key risks 
facing Science Foundation Ireland and these have been 
identified, evaluated and graded according to their 
significance. The register is reviewed and updated by 
the ARC on a bi-monthly basis. The outcome of these 
assessments is used to plan and allocate resources to 
ensure risks are managed to an acceptable level.

The risk register details the controls and actions needed 
to mitigate risks and responsibility for operation of 
controls assigned to specific staff. I confirm that a 
control environment containing the following elements 
is in place:

	 procedures for all key business processes have 
been documented,

	 financial responsibilities have been assigned 
at management level with corresponding 
accountability,

	 there is an appropriate budgeting system with an 
annual budget which is kept under review by senior 
management,

	 there are systems aimed at ensuring the security 
of the information and communication technology 
systems,

	 there are systems in place to safeguard the assets, 
and

	 control procedures over grant funding to outside 
agencies are in place to ensure adequate control 
over approval of grants and monitoring and review 
of grantees to ensure grant funding has been 
applied for the purpose intended.

Ongoing Monitoring and Review

Formal procedures have been established for 
monitoring control processes and control deficiencies 
are communicated to those responsible for taking 
corrective action and to management and the Board, 
where relevant, in a timely way. I confirm that the 
following ongoing monitoring systems are in place:

	 key risks and related controls have been identified 
and processes have been put in place to monitor 
the operation of those key controls and report any 
identified deficiencies,

	 reporting arrangements have been established at all 
levels where responsibility for financial management 
has been assigned, and

	 there are regular reviews by senior management 
of periodic and annual performance and financial 
reports which indicate performance against 
budgets/forecasts. 

Statement on Internal Control
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	 External Peer review of all research proposals 
by scientific experts to adjudicate whether the 
proposal is worthwhile from an educational and 
scientific research viewpoint and that it meets the 
criteria for funding, 

	 Monitoring and control of all research grants 
awarded, with annual grant payments based on 
budget projections provided for each award with 
option to defer grant payments if expenditure is 
below budget,

	 Annual systems based internal audit reviews in 
respect of research grants awarded carried out at 
the Eligible Research Bodies,

	 Setting targets to measure financial and other 
performance,

	 Formal project management disciplines.

Procurement

I confirm that Science Foundation Ireland has procedures in 
place to ensure compliance with current procurement rules 
and guidelines and that during 2018 Science Foundation 
Ireland complied with those procedures.

Review of Effectiveness

I confirm that Science Foundation Ireland has 
procedures to monitor the effectiveness of its risk 
management and control procedures. Science 
Foundation Ireland’s monitoring and review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control is 
informed by the work of the internal and external 
auditors, the Audit and Risk Committee which oversees 
their work, and the senior management within Science 
Foundation Ireland responsible for the development 
and maintenance of the internal control framework.

I confirm that the Board conducted an annual review 
of the effectiveness of the internal controls for 2018 on 
26th March 2019.

Internal Control Issues

No weaknesses in internal control were identified in 
relation to 2018 that require disclosure in the financial 
statements.

On behalf of the Board of Science Foundation Ireland:

Ms. Bernie Cullinan    
Deputy Chairman   

Date: 24th June 2019 

Statement on Internal Control
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Statement of Income and Expenditure 
and Retained Revenue Reserves 
For the year ended 31 December 2018
  2018  2017  
 Notes €’000 €’000

Income     
Oireachtas Grant 2 191,582 182,933  
Other Income 3 3,100 2,679  
Net Deferred Retirement Benefit Funding 5(c) 1,666 1,581  

  196,348 187,193   

Expenditure     
Administration, Operations and Promotion Expenses 4 10,957 10,198    
Depreciation 6 164 146  
Retirement Benefit Costs  5(a) 1,461   1,400   
Grants Paid 9(a) 183,729 175,426   

  196,311 187,170   

 
Surplus for the year before appropriations  37   23  
Transfer (to) / from the Capital Account 7 97   (27)  

Surplus /(Deficit) for the Year after appropriations   134   (4) 

Balance Brought Forward at 1 January 2018  593   597  

Balance Carried Forward at 31 December 2018  727   593

The Statement of Cash Flows and Notes 1 to 16 form part of these Financial Statements.

On behalf of the Board of Science Foundation Ireland:

Ms Bernie Cullinan Prof Mark Ferguson  
Deputy Chairman  Director General

Date: 24th June 2019 Date: 24th June 2019      
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 31 December 2018

  2018  2017  
 Note €’000 €’000

   

Surplus/(Deficit) after Appropriations  134 (4)

Experience losses on retirement benefit obligations    (415)   (828)  

Change in assumptions underlying the present value of   
retirement benefit obligations  810   4

Total Actuarial Gain/(Loss) in the period 5(d) 395   (824)

Adjustment to Deferred retirement benefits funding   (395)   824  

Total Comprehensive Income/(Loss) for the year  134   (4)

 

The Statement of Cash Flows and Notes 1 to 16 form part of these Financial Statements.   
 

On behalf of the Board of Science Foundation Ireland:

Ms Bernie Cullinan Prof Mark Ferguson  
Deputy Chairman  Director General

Date: 24th June 2019 Date: 24th June 2019      
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Statement of Financial Position 
For the year ended 31 December 2018

  2018  2017  
 Notes €’000 €’000

   

Fixed Assets      
Property, Plant and Equipment 8 165   262  

Current Assets     
Receivables 10 292   897    
Cash and Cash Equivalents  1,686   402  

  1,978   1,299  

Current Liabilities (Amounts Falling due within one year)     
Payables 11 (1,251)   (706)  

Net Current Assets  727   593  

Long term Liabilities (Amounts falling due after one year)  -   -

Retirement benefits     
Retirement Benefit Liability 5(b) (18,789)   (17,518) 
Deferred Retirement Benefit Funding Asset 5(b) 18,789   17,518 

  -   -

Total Net Assets  892 855  

Representing:     
Capital Account 7 165   262    
Accumulated Surplus at end of Year  727   593   

  892   855  

The Statement of Cash Flows and Notes 1 to 16 form part of these Financial Statements.   
 

On behalf of the Board of Science Foundation Ireland:

Ms Bernie Cullinan Prof Mark Ferguson  
Deputy Chairman  Director General

Date: 24th June 2019 Date: 24th June 2019      
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2018

  2018  2017  
 Notes €’000 €’000

   
Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Excess Income over Expenditure  37 23

Depreciation of Fixed Assets 6 164 146 
Decrease / (increase) in Receivables 10 605   (264)  
Increase in Payables 11 545 288 

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activites   1,351   193 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities   

Payments to acquire Property, Plant and Equipment 8 (67)   (173) 

Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities  (67)  (173) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities   - -

Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents  1,284 20

Cash and Cash Equivalents at 1 January 2018   402 382

Cash and Cash Equivalents at 31 December 2018   1,686 402
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018

1  Accounting Policies  

 The basis of accounting and significant accounting 
policies adopted by Science Foundation Ireland are 
set out below. They have been applied consistently 
throughout the year and for the preceding year.

 (a) General Information 
Science Foundation Ireland was set up under the 
Industrial Development (Science Foundation Ireland) 
Act 2003, and by the Industrial Development (Science 
Foundation Ireland) (Amendment) Act, 2013, with 
its Head Office at Wilton Park House, Wilton Place, 
Dublin 2.

 Science Foundation Ireland’s primary objectives as 
set out under section 7 of the Industrial Development 
(Science Foundation Ireland) Act 2003, as amended 
by the Industrial Development (Science Foundation 
Ireland) (Amendment) Act, 2013, are as follows:

 Science Foundation Ireland funds oriented basic 
and applied research in the areas of science, 
technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) 
which promotes and assists the development 
and competitiveness of industry, enterprise and 
employment in Ireland. The Foundation also 
promotes and supports the study of, education in and 
engagement with, STEM and promotes an awareness 
and understanding of the value of STEM to society 
and in particular to the growth of the economy.

 Science Foundation Ireland is a Public Benefit Entity 
(PBE).

 (b) Statement of Compliance 
The financial statements of Science Foundation 
Ireland for the year ended 31 December 2018 have 
been prepared in accordance with FRS 102, the 
financial reporting standard applicable in the UK and 
Ireland issued by the Financial Reporting Council 
(FRC), as promulgated by Chartered Accountants 
Ireland.  

 (c) Basis of Preparation 
The financial statements have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention, except for certain 
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair values 
as explained in the accounting policies below. The 
financial statements are in the form approved by the 
Minister for Business, Enterprise and Innovation with 
the consent of the Minister for Public Expenditure 
and Reform under the Industrial Development 
(Science Foundation Ireland) Act 2003, and by the 
Industrial Development (Science Foundation Ireland) 
(Amendment) Act, 2013. The financial statements 
reflect the requirements of the Code of Practice for 
the Governance of State Bodies 2016, which came 
into effect for accounting periods commencing on or 
after the 1st September, 2016.  

 The following accounting policies have been applied 
consistently in dealing with items which are considered 
material in relation to Science Foundation Ireland’s 
Financial Statements.

 (d) Revenue 
Revenue is recognised on an accruals basis except in the 
case of Oireachtas Grants which are recognised on a cash 
receipts basis.

 (e) Property, Plant and Equipment 
Property, Plant and Equipment are stated at cost less 
Accumulated Depreciation, adjusted for any provision 
for impairment. Depreciation is provided on all property, 
plant and equipment, at rates estimated to write off the 
cost less the estimated residual value of each asset on 
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, as 
follows:

(i) Computer Equipment  
and Computer Software 3 years

(ii) Fixtures and Fittings 5 years

 Residual value represents the estimated amount which 
would currently be obtained from disposal of an asset, 
after deducting estimated costs of disposal, if the asset 
were already of an age and in the condition expected at 
the end of its useful life.

 (f) Capital Account 
The Capital Account represents the unamortised 
funds utilised for the acquisition of Property, Plant 
and Equipment and is written down in line with the 
depreciation policy for these assets.  

 (g) Foreign Currency 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the exchange rates ruling 
at the end of the Financial Year. Revenues and costs are 
translated at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of 
the underlying transactions. The resultant surpluses or 
deficits are dealt with in the Statement of Income and 
Expenditure and Retained Revenue Reserves.

 (h) Employee Benefits
 Short term benefits  

Short term benefits such as holiday pay are recognised 
as an expense in the year, and benefits that are accrued 
at year-end are included in the Payables figure in the 
Statement of Financial Position.  

  Retirement Benefits 
The Industrial Development (Forfás Dissolution) Act 2014 
(No 13 of 2014) which was passed into law on 16th July 
2014 made provision for the dissolution of Forfás and 
provided for the establishment of Science Foundation 
Ireland as a separate legal employer. Under the legislation:

 Science Foundation Ireland is responsible for the 
establishment of its own pension scheme.

PAGE 54      |      Science Foundation Ireland      |      Annual Report 2018



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018

 SFI Staff who were members of the Forfás 
Pension scheme join the new scheme on 
superannuation terms no less favourable than 
those they enjoyed under the Forfás scheme 
immediately before the date of transfer.

 SFI is responsible for the pensions of staff who 
retire after 16th July 2014.

 The Department of Jobs, Enterprise and 
Innovation assumes legal responsibility for the 
existing Forfás pension scheme and existing 
SFI pensioners and former staff with preserved 
benefits.

 Employee pension contributions are paid to the 
Exchequer.

 Ministerial Regulations (SI No. 39 of 2019 refers), 
under section 52 of the Pensions Act 1990, as 
amended, which lists the schemes exempt from 
the funding standard requirements of Part IV of 
that Act, includes the Science Foundation Ireland 
Superannuation Scheme 2016 in the list of Schemes 
excluded from the provisions of Part IV of the 
Pensions Act 1990.

 Science Foundation Ireland also operates the Single 
Public Services Pension Scheme (“Single Scheme”), 
which is a defined benefit scheme for pensionable 
public servants appointed on or after 1 January 2013. 
Single Scheme members’ contributions are paid over 
to the Department of Public Expenditure and Reform 
(DPER).  

 Pension costs reflect pension benefits earned by 
employees, and are shown net of staff pension 
contributions which are remitted to the Department 
for Business, Enterprise and Innovation in respect 
of Science Foundation Ireland’s retirement benefit 
scheme and to DPER in respect of the Single Scheme.  
An amount corresponding to the pension charge 
is recognised as income to the extent that it is 
recoverable. 

 Actuarial gains or losses arising on scheme liabilities 
are reflected in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, and a corresponding adjustment is 
recognised in the amount recoverable from the 
Department of Business, Enterprise and Innovation.

 The Financial Statements reflect, at fair value, the 
assets and liabilities arising from Science Foundation 
Ireland’s pension obligations and any related 
funding, and recognise the costs of providing pension 
benefits in the accounting periods in which they are 
earned by employees. Retirement benefit scheme 
liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using 
the Projected Unit Credit method. Deferred pension 
funding represents the corresponding asset to be 
recovered in future periods from the Department of 
Business, Enterprise and Innovation. 

 (i) Operating Leases 
Rental expenditure under operating leases is 
recognised in the Statement of Income and 
Expenditure and Retained Revenue Reserves as they 
fall due. Any lease incentives receivable are spread 
over the period of the Lease term.

 (j) Research Grant Payments 
Amounts paid to Research Bodies on foot of research 
grants awarded are charged to the Statement of 
Income and Expenditure and Retained Revenue 
Reserves in the year of payment.

 (k) Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates 
The preparation of the financial statements requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported for 
assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date and 
the amounts reported for revenues and expenses 
during the year. However, the nature of estimation 
means that actual outcomes could differ from those 
estimates. The following judgements have had the 
most significant effect on amounts recognised in the 
financial statements.

 Depreciation and Residual Values 
The Directors have reviewed the asset lives and 
associated residual values of all fixed asset classes, 
and in particular, the useful economic life and residual 
values of fixtures and fittings, and have concluded 
that asset lives and residual values are appropriate.

 Retirement Benefit Obligation 
The assumptions underlying the actuarial valuations 
for which the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements are determined (including discount rates, 
rates of increase in future compensation levels, 
mortality rates and healthcare cost trend rates) 
are updated annually based on current economic 
conditions, and for any relevant changes to the terms 
and conditions of the pension and post-retirement 
plans.

 The assumptions can be affected by:

(i) The discount rate, changes in the rate of return 
on high-quality corporate bonds

(ii)  Future compensation levels, future labour 
market conditions

(iii)  Changes in Demographics
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2  Oireachtas Grant  
 The Oireachtas Grants voted to Science Foundation Ireland from Vote 32, Business, Enterprise and Innovation, (under the 

Science and Technology Development Programme) as shown in the financial statements consist of:

   2018  2017  
  €’000 €’000  
Grants for Current Expenditure 

 Pay* Subhead B.4 4,612  4,048   
Administration Expenses Subhead B.4  5,980   5,785 

 Grants for Capital Expenditure      
 Research Grants Subhead B.4 175,490  173,100 

Research Grants Subhead B.5 5,500  -  

   191,582   182,933 
 
 * The grant for pay expenditure is stated net of employee pension contributions of €223k (2017: €198k) remitted to the 

Exchequer. These include deductions of €77k in 2018 (2017: €55k) in respect of members of The Single Pension Scheme 
which were remitted to the Department of Public Expenditure and Reform. 

 Under Section 11 of the Industrial Development Act, 1993, as amended by Section 4(a) of the Industrial Development Act, 
2009, the aggregate amount of grants made by the Minister to Enterprise Ireland, IDA and Science Foundation Ireland to 
enable them to discharge their Capital obligations and liabilities shall not exceed €7,000,000,000. At 31 December, 2018 
the aggregate amount made available to the three Agencies was €6.5 billion (2017 €6.2 billion).

3  Other Income
      

  2018  2017  
 Notes €’000 €’000

 Research Grant Funding: 
 Contributions from other funding agencies to awards made by SFI

 Teagasc  3(a) 532  184 
Marine Institute  3(b) 704  393 
Environmental Protection Agency   3(c) 117  207 
Geological Society of Ireland  3(d) 296  184 
Health Research Board   3(e) 57  115 
Sustainable Energy Authority of Ireland  3(f) - 693 
Irish Cancer Society   3(g) 184 345 
Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine  3(h) 820  - 

 Sub-Total   2,710 2,121

 Contributions from other funding sources  
 Contribution towards ERA NET funding calls 3(i) 

 ERA-HDHL   129 267 
ERA CoSysMed    - 107 
M-ERANET2     6 85 
EU NanoMed III    - 7 
QuantERA  29 2

 Income from EU in respect of SFI’s participation in  
Horizon 2020 awards where SFI is a partner 3(J)

 ACT   24 -  
Inroad    9 10

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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3  Other Income (continued)  2018 2017
  Notes €’000 €’000
 Repayment to EU in respect of final settlement of EU  

Marie-Curie fund which was a Contribution towards  
SIRG awards made in 2012  3(k)  - (120) 
Contribution from Pfizer Corporation towards awards made SFI  
under the SFI-Pfizer Biotherapeutics Innovation Award Programme 2014  30 78 
European Space Agency  3(l) 163 122

 Total   3,100  2,679

(a)  Contribution from Teagasc for co-funding of multi-annual awards made by SFI in 2014 and 2017. 

(b)  Contributions from the Marine Institute for co-funding of multi-annual awards made by SFI in 2016, 2017 and 2018. 

(c)  Contributions from the Environmental Protection Agency for co-funding of multi-annual awards made by SFI in 2016 
and 2017.

(d)  Contributions from the Geological Society of Ireland for Co-Funding of multi-annual awards made in 2016, 2017 and 
2018.

(e)  Contribution from the Health Research Board in respect of one US/Ireland R&D Partnership award.

(f)  Contribution from the Sustainable Energy Authority of Ireland for two Career Development Awards made in 2017.

(g)  Contribution from the Irish Cancer Society towards the ICS-SFI Collaborative Cancer Research Centre (CCRC) 
Programme awarded 2015.

(h)  Contribution from the Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine for SFI Research Centre awarded in 2018. 

(i)  SFI participates in a number of different ERA Net funding calls in conjunction with the other European funding agencies 
and the EU. As part of its participation in these activities, SFI receives funding towards both the capital cost of awards 
made and towards the programme management costs of running these activities.

(j)  SFI is a partner in two EU research awards made under the European Union’s Horizon 2020 research and innovation 
programme; a) ACT (Communities of PrACTice for Accelerating Gender Equality and Institutional Change in Research 
and Innovation across Europe) and b) InRoad (towards better synchronisation of priority settings and evaluation 
mechanisms for research infrastructures beyond national relevance).

(k)  A final refund made to the EU in 2017 on completion of the EU Marie Curie scheme which co-funded 12 Starting 
Investigator Research Grant awards made by SFI in 2012. This refund arose as 3 of the initial grant awards terminated 
early, while full payment had been received by the EU for all 12 awards.

(l)  Funding arising from an annual contract between Science Foundation Ireland and the European Space Agency (ESA) for 
the implementation of a European Space Education Resource Office (ESERO) in Ireland.

 

4 Administration, Operations and Promotion Expenses
   2018  2017  

 Notes €’000 €’000

 Remuneration and other pay costs 4(a) 5,166 4,506  
Programme Management  687  1,228   
Accommodation  971  850 
Professional and Support Services 4(i) 536  360 
Accounting and Internal Audit Services  337  257 
Marketing and Supports 4(ii) 1,593  1,695 
Specialist and Education Services  291  168 
IT Support and Infrastructure  769  650 
HR Management  108  86 
Administration Expenses 4(iii) 468 371 
Statutory Audit Fee 4iv) 31  27  

 Total  10,957  10,198  

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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4 Administration, Operations and Promotion Expenses (continued)

(i) Included in Professional and Support services is legal fees of €150k (2017: €172k) which are general in nature, tax, financial 
advisory fees of €14k (2017: €12k), design and project management fees for new premises of €178k (2017: nil), SFI Discover 
Programme Evaluation review €37k (2017: nil), Research Integrity advice €22k (2017: nil) and other consultancy fees of 
€30k (2017: €90k). There were no legal cases or settlements made in 2018. SFI defines consultancy fees as specific finite 
tasks involving expert skills or capabilities that would not normally reside within SFI.

(ii) Included in Marketing and Supports is public engagement consultant fees of €115k (2017: €120k)

(iii) Included in the administration expenses is Staff Hospitality related expenditure of €1k (2017: €3k). There was no client 
related hospitality expenses in the year.

(iv) Included in the statutory audit fee is the 2018 audit fee of €29k and an amount of €2k to address the under-accrual for the 
2017 audit fee.

(a)  Remuneration and other pay costs

  Notes 2018  2017  
  €’000 €’000  
 
Staff Salaries  4,266    3,705   
Employers’ contribution to Social Welfare   403  348  
Increase in holiday pay accrual  43 13  
Staff Training and Development  104 111 
Staff travel and subsistence costs**  231 181 
Board Members’ Remuneration and Expenses 4(b) 119  147 

 Total  5,166    4,506    

 Actual employed as at year end  59   58   

 The total key management personnel compensation for 2018 was €946k (2017: €642k). This includes the compensation 
for the Board members, the Director General and five senior executives who reported to him (including maternity leave 
cover for one senior executive). Science Foundation Ireland deducted pension levies from staff of €239k (2017: €198k) 
which were paid over to the Department for Enterprise, Business and Innovation. There were no overtime payments, other 
allowances or termination payments made in either year. 

 **Of the total staff travel and subsistence costs of €231k (2017: €181k) €112k (2017: €96k) relates to international travel 
and subsistence and €119k (2017: €85k) relates to national travel and subsistence.

 Employee benefits breakdown 

 Range of Key Management Personnel Remuneration                                   Number of Employees   
      2018 2017 
From   To    

 €60,000  -  €69,999  10  12  
€70,000     -  €79,999   4  10 
€80,000     -   €89,999  - 3 
€90,000     -    €99,999  5 5 
€100,000   -    €109,999  6  3 
€120,000   -    €129,999  1  - 
€140,000   -    €149,999  - 2 
€170,000   -    €179,999  1  1  
€150,000   -    €159,999  1 - 
€170,000   -    €179,999  - 1 
€180,000   -    €189,999  1 -

 Note: For the purposes of this disclosure, short-term employee benefits in relation to services rendered during the 
reporting period include salary, overtime allowances and other payments made on behalf of the employee, but exclude 
employer’s PRSI.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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4 Administration, Operations and Promotion Expenses (continued)

(b)  Board Members’ Emoluments
   

 Board  Vouched Meetings  Board Vouched  Meetings  
 Fees Expenses  attended Fees Expenses attended  
  2018 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017   
 €	 €	 	 €	 €

 Board Member 
 Ann Riordan 19,031  439            5 out of 5 20,520  319 6 out of 6 

Bernie Cullinan 11,970  215             5 out of 6  11,970  - 6 out of 6 
Prof Sir Tom Blundell 11,970  1,399          5 out of 6 11,970  2,326 6 out of 6 
Barry O Sullivan -  311       5 out of 6 -  29,163 6 out of 6 
Prof Mark Ferguson -  -              6 out of 6 -  - 6 out of 6 
Rita Colwell -  -             - 11,970  - 3 out of 6 
Geraldine Ruane -  -  2 out of 3 -  143 4 out of 6 
Dr Pat Duane 11,970  -  6 out of 6 11,970  803 6 out of 6 
Dermot Mulligan -  -   6 out of 6 -  - 5 out of 6 
Aidan Donnelly 11,970  150   6 out of 6 11,970  - 6 out of 6 
Mary Doyle -  114  6 out of 6 -  - 6 out of 6 
Prof Liam Madden -  30,473        5 out of 6 -  23,508 5 out of 6 
Maire Geoghegan Quinn 8,645 800 4 out of 5 - - - 
Grainne McAleese 2,220 - 1 out of 1 - - - 
General Board Expenses - 6,935       n/a - 10,511 n/a

 Total 77,776 40,836   80,370  66,773    

 Board members are paid fees as determined by the Minister for Business, Enterprise and Innovation with the consent of 
the Minister for Public Expenditure and Reform. Certain Board members are excluded from receiving fees from SFI under 
the “One Person One Salary” remuneration arrangements whereby public servants cannot receive Board fees in addition to 
a salary. These are Prof Mark Ferguson, Ms. Mary Doyle, Ms. Geraldine Ruane and Mr. Dermot Mulligan. In addition, two 
Board members, Prof Liam Madden and Mr. Barry O’Sullivan, have waived their Board fees. 

 The following Board members are based overseas: Prof. Sir Tom Blundell is UK based while Dr. Rita Colwell, Mr. Barry 
O’Sullivan and Prof. Liam Madden are US Based. Dr. Rita Colwell retired from the Board on 31st December 2017.

 The Director General’s remuneration package for 2018 was as follows: annual basic salary €186k (2017: €179k) and 
standard public sector pension arrangements apply. No performance related bonus was applicable.

 Prof. Ferguson is also Chief Scientific Advisor (CSA) to the Government, a role formerly under the administration of Forfás. 
There is no remuneration for this role and all administration costs for the office are absorbed by SFI. Total expenses for the 
year incurred by the Director General in the discharge of both roles amounted to €62k (2017: €30k) of which €4k (2017: 
€4k) related to CSA activities.

 Of the total Board vouched expenses costs of €41k (2017: €67k), €32k (2017: €55k) relates to international travel and 
subsistence and €9k (2017: €12k) relates to national travel and subsistence. Board expenses includes travel and subsistence 
of €2,000 paid directly to Board members in 2018 (2017: €3,000). The balance of €39,000 (2017: €64,000) relates to 
expenditure paid by Science Foundation Ireland on behalf of the Board members.

 General Board expenses for 2018 include accommodation and meal costs for Board meetings held off site. During 2018 six 
Board meetings were held. The following appointments to and resignations from the Board took place in 2018:

1. Ms Maire Geoghan-Quinn was appointed on 11th April, 2018

2. Mr Barry O’Sullivan retired and was reappointed on 25th July, 2018

3. Ms Geraldine Ruane retired on 24th July, 2018

4. Ms Grainne McAleese was appointed on 25th October 2018

5. Ms Ann Riordan retired on 4th December 2018.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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5 Retirement Benefit Costs
(a) Analysis of total retirement benefit costs charged to the Statement of Income and Expenditure and Retained Revenue 

Reserves    
  2018  2017  
  €’000 €’000  
      
Current Service Cost  1,325     1,296     
Interest on Retirement Benefit Scheme Liabilities   359  302      
Employee Contributions  (223)   (198)  

   1,461    1,400   

(b)  Movement in net Retirement benefit obligation during the financial year    
  2018  2017  
  €’000 €’000  
      
Net retirement benefit obligation at 1 January  17,518  15,113       
Current service Costs    1,325  1,296    
Interest Costs  359   302 
Payments to Pensioners  (18) (17)             
Actuarial (Gain)/ Loss    (395) 824    

 Net retirement benefit obligation at 31 December   18,789    17,518     

 The Board recognises these amounts as an asset corresponding to the unfunded deferred liability for retirement benefits 
on the basis of the set of assumptions described above and a number of past events. These events include the statutory 
basis for the establishment of the retirement benefit schemes, and the policy and practice currently in place in relation to 
funding public service pensions including contributions by employees and the annual estimates process. The Board has no 
evidence that this funding policy will not continue to meet such sums in accordance with current practice.

 The net deferred funding for retirement benefits recognised in the Statement of Income and Expenditure and Retained 
Revenue Reserves is as follows:

(c)  Deferred Funding Retirement Benefits
    

  2018  2017  
  €’000 €’000  
      
Funding recoverable in respect of Current Year Retirement benefit costs  1,684   1,598          
Less State Grant applied to pay retirement benefits.  (18)    (17)   

   1,666    1,581    

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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5 Retirement Benefit Costs (continued) 

(d)  General Description of the scheme

 Science Foundation Ireland has responsibility for the pension costs of:

1. staff with effect from 16th July 2014, under the Industrial Development (Forfás Dissolution) Act 2014. Staff who 
are/were members of the Forfás Pension Scheme joined the new Science Foundation Ireland pension scheme 
on superannuation terms no less favourable than those they enjoyed under the Forfás scheme immediately 
before the date of transfer from Forfás to SFI.

2. staff who are members of the Single Public Service pension scheme.

 Both schemes are defined benefit pension schemes and are fully funded annually on a pay as you go basis from 
monies provided by the Department of Business, Enterprise and Innovation.

 The schemes are defined benefit final salary schemes with retirement benefits linked to final salary and length of 
service. The valuation used for FRS 102 disclosures are based on an actuarial review of the schemes for the financial 
year ending 31 December 2018 carried out by a qualified independent actuary, taking account of the requirements 
of the FRS in order to assess the schemes liabilities at 31 December 2018.

 The principal actuarial assumptions were as follows:

 Liabilities shown in the Financial Accounts are computed using the Projected Unit Credit method.  
    

 2018  2017

 Financial Assumptions 
Discount Rate  2.00% p.a 2.05% p.a.  
Future Salary Increases  3.30% p.a 3.50% p.a.  
Future State Pension increases  3.30% p.a 3.50% p.a. 
Future Pension Increases  2.80% p.a 3.00% p.a. 
Future inflation  1.80% p.a 2.00% p.a. 
Revaluation in deferment  2.80% p.a 3.00% p.a.

 * discount rate reflects a duration of liabilities of approximately 31 years in 2018 (31 years in 2017)

 Demographic Assumptions 
 62% PNMLOO  62% PNMLOO 
Mortality pre-Retirement (Males)  (Males)

  70% PNFLOO  70% PNFLOO 
 (Females) (Females)

  58% ILT15 58% ILT15 
Mortality post-Retirement (Males)  (Males) 

  62% ILT15 62% ILT15 
 (Females) (Females)

 Retirement age 
New entrants Age 65  Age 65  
Other members Age 62 Age 62 

 The Mortality basis explicitly allows for improvements in life expectancy over time, so that life expectancy at 
retirement will depend on the year in which a member attains retirement age (age 65). The table below shows the 
life expectancy for members attaining age 65 in 2018 and 2038.

 Year of attaining age 65    2018  2038

 Life expectancy - Male    21.4  23.8 
Life expectancy - Female    23.9  25.9

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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5 Retirement Benefit Costs (continued)  

 Prior Year Comparatives

 Year ending December 31st 2018  2017 2016 2015 2014 
 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 

 Closing pension liability 18,789  17,518 15,113 10,076 7,873   
Experience (loss)/gain arising  
on the plan Liabilities  (415) (828) 161 (469) 164

 % Liabilities   -2.2% -4.7% 1.1% -4.6% 2.1%    
Total Gain / (Loss) recognised in  
Statement of Comprehensive Income  395 (824) (3,766) (1,058) 38  

 % Liabilities   2.1% -4.7% -24.9% -10.5% 0.5%  
     

6 Depreciation
  

  2018  2017  
 Note €’000 €’000  
      
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8 164  146  

   164   146  

7 Capital Account
   2018  2017  

  €’000 €’000

 Opening Balance as at 1 January    262   235 

 Transfer from Statement of Income and Expenditure and Retained Revenue Reserves    
 
- To fund Fixed Asset acquisitions   67   173  
- Amortised in line with asset depreciation  (164) (146)

 Net Movement  (97) 27 

 Closing balance as at 31 December    165   262 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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8 Property, Plant and Equipment
         

 Computer Computer Fixtures and  
 Equipment Software Fittings Total 
 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

 Cost 
At 1 January 2018 830 768 165 1,763    
Additions 66 - 1 67   

 At 31 December 2018 896 768 166 1,830   

 Depreciation   
At 1 January 2018 682 701 118 1,501     
Charge for Year 94 50 20 164   

 At 31 December 2018 776 751 138 1,665   

 Net Book Amount  
At 1 January 2018 148 67 47 262     
Net Movement for Year (28) (50) (19) (97)   

 At 31 December 2018 120 17 28 165 

 There were no disposals in 2018.

9 Grants
     2018  2017  

    €’000 €’000

(a)  Analysis of Grants Paid 
Priority Area A - Future Networks and Communications   12,279                      17,960  
Priority Area B - Data Analytics, Management, Security and Privacy  10,898                      14,177  
Priority Area C - Digital Platforms, Content and Applications   11,032                        7,994  
Priority Area D - Connected Health and Independent Living   1,643  587  
Priority Area E - Medical Devices                             11,607                     15,784  
Priority Area F - Diagnostics    18,863                      14,541  
Priority Area G - Therapeutics: Synthesis, Formulation, Processing and Drug Delivery 16,084  19,646  
Priority Area H - Food for Health    6,721                       9,399  
Priority Area I - Sustainable Food Production and Processing   11,877                        6,400  
Priority Area J - Marine Renewable Energy    5,128                       4,917  
Priority Area K - Smart Grids and Smart Cities    5,199                        3,494    
Priority Area L - Manufacturing Competitiveness   5,386                        7,246    
Priority Area M - Processing Technologies and Novel Materials   37,059                      29,506   
Priority Area N - Innovation in Services and Business Processes   599 576 
Basic Biomedical Science (BBS)    7,139                      8,048   
Other    22,215 15,151  

 Total  183,729  175,426  

  
The analysis of grants paid reflects the results of the National Research Prioritisation Strategy adopted by Government 
following input from the research community, the enterprise sector and research funding departments and agencies.  
   

Notes to the Financial Statements
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9 Grants (continued)
(b)  Grant Commitments

     2018  2017  
    €’000 €’000

 Outstanding Grant Commitments as at 1 January   458,006 427,595    
Grants Approved during the year  132,077 212,674     
De-commitments during the year  (8,167) (8,958) 
Grant Payments made in the year - Gross  (183,729) (175,426) 
Amounts received other funding agencies for Co-Funding of SFI awards   
Teagasc  532 184   
Irish Cancer Society   184 345   
Environmental Protection Agency  117 207   
Marine Institute  704 393   
Geological Society of Ireland  296 184 
Sustainable Energy Authority of Ireland  - 693 
Health Research Board  57 115    
Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine    820 -

 Outstanding Commitments as at 31 December  400,897  458,006   

10 Receivables  
   2018  2017  

  €’000 €’000

 Debtors  13   2  
Prepayments  279  895  

 Total  292  897 

     
 

11 Payables 
   2018  2017  

  €’000 €’000

 General Creditors  231 122 
Deferred Income*  289 302 
Accruals  661 263 
Interagency Balance - IDA**  70 19  

 Total  1,251  706 

 * *Deferred income represents the grants and programme management monies received from the EU but not expended 
in respect of SFI’s participation in ERA-Net Co-funded calls (made in conjunction with other EU funding agencies and the 
EU). These amounts are credited to Other Income over the period to which the related expenditure is incurred.

 **Interagency Balance relates to the balance owed by Science Foundation Ireland to IDA at 31 December 2018, being the 
difference between the amount of money paid to IDA by Science Foundation Ireland and the actual money spent by IDA 
on behalf of Science Foundation Ireland.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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12 Commitments under Operating Leases    
 Science Foundation Ireland is a tenant of IDA (formerly under Forfás tenancy) in Wilton Park House and currently 

has no commitments under operating leases on the building, but pays rent to IDA as a contribution to the lease costs 
incurred by IDA. 

 Science Foundation Ireland signed an “Agreement for Lease” with the IDA in May 2018 for the new premises Three 
Park Place. The planned date for moving to Three Park Place is no later than 31st October 2019. The lease is for 25 
years (subject to a break clause after 10 years) with annual rent payments of €1,683,621 commencing in May 2019, 
following a one year rent free period.

 The following are future minimum lease payments over the period of the lease:

     2018  2017  
    €’000 €’000

 Within 1 year                                       1,122                   -    
During 2-5 years                             6,734 - 
Over 5 years                             32,551 -                                 

 13 Taxation   
 Section 227 of the Taxes Consolidation Act, 1997, provides an exemption from tax on the income of non-commercial 

state bodies except where interest is subject to tax at source (e.g. DIRT). The net amount of such income is credited to 
the Statement of Income and Expenditure and Retained Revenue Reserves.

 SFI is liable to employer taxes in Ireland and complies with related withholding, reporting and payment obligations.

14 Related Party Disclosures    
 Science Foundation Ireland adopts procedures in accordance with the guidelines issued by the Department of Public 

Expenditure and Reform covering the personal interests of Board members and staff. In the normal course of business, 
Science Foundation Ireland may approve grants or enter into other contractual arrangements with entities in which 
Science Foundation Ireland Board members and staff are employed or are otherwise interested. 

 In cases of potential conflict of interest, Board members and staff do not receive Board documentation or otherwise 
participate in or attend discussions regarding these transactions. A register is maintained and available on request of all 
such instances.

15 Contingencies and Legal Actions    
 There are no contingencies or legal actions which require specific provision in the Financial Statements.

16 Approval of Financial Statements    
 The Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Science Foundation Ireland on 24th June 2019.
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INTERNATIONAL PARTNERSHIPS 6%
SFI-NSFC Partnership

US-Ireland R&D Partnership

RS-SFI University Research Fellowship

BBSRC-SFI Joint Funding

SFI-HRB-Wellcome Trust Biomedical
Research Partnership

FE
LLOW

SHIPS AND EARLY CAREER - 

SENIOR INVESTIGATOR

APPLIED AND BASIC CO
M

B
IN

ED

INFRASTRUCTURE 5%

Spokes

SFI RESEARCH 
CENTRES 44%

EDUCATION 
AND PUBLIC 
ENGAGEMENT 1%

ENTREPRENEURSHIP 6%
Strategic Partnerships Programme

TIDA

Future Innovator Prize

INDIVIDUAL-LED 38%
Investigator Programme

Research Professorship

Career Development Award

Starting Investigator Research Grant

President of Ireland Future Research Leaders

Science Foundation Ireland Portfolio 2018

Full details of all awards and grant commitments made by programme are outlined from page 68.  
Calculated from outstanding commitments as of 31/12/2018 and in-year spend for 2018.
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Award Portfolio and  
New Awards Approved

Science Foundation Ireland funds early and mid-stage researchers and established 
highly-esteemed research leaders, through individual and collaborative awards, 
across a diverse and balanced portfolio of programmes. In 2018, 323 new awards 
were approved across 29 programmes, with a value of €132 million. Total payments to 
research bodies/institutions were €181 million. 

€6.2 million was invested  
via four awards under the 
President of Ireland Future 
Research Leaders Programme.

19 outstanding senior 
researchers were supported 
by an investment of €10.2 
million through the SFI Starting 
Investigator Research Grant 
(SIRG) Programme. 

Three awards were 
made under the SFI Research 
Professor Programme to attract 
world-leading researchers to 
Ireland, with an investment of 
€17.2 million.

Science Foundation Ireland 
made an investment of  
€1.9 million across  
ERC Support Programme  
(six awards) and ERC 
Development Programme  
(one award) in 2018. 

The SFI Research Infrastructure 
Programme funded six research 
equipment and facilities 
awards valued at €24.8 million 
to support key research 
infrastructure projects. 

38 awards were funded 
under the SFI Technology 
Innovation Development Award 
Programme (TIDA) with an 
investment of €4.5 million. 

12 awards were made 
under the SFI Future Innovator 
Prize Call 2018 with an 
investment of €3.1 million.

21 awards valued at €1.8 
million were approved under 
the SFI Industry Fellowship 
Programme aimed at providing 
researchers with first hand 
experience of working in an 
industry-research environment. 

41 awards were made 
through the SFI Discover Annual 
Programme totalling €3.59 
million to support the education 
and engagement of the public 
and young people in STEM. 

The following is a summary of award programme decisions in 2018: 
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2018 Payments by Institution

€000s

Trinity College Dublin €43,249

University College Dublin €29,406

Tyndall National Institute €24,761

University College Cork €20,394

National University of Ireland, Galway €19,925

University of Limerick €15,920

Dublin City University €5,359

Teagasc €4,802

Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland €4,683

National University of Ireland, Maynooth €4,251

The Royal Society €1,861

Marine Institute €1,427

Health Research Board €846

Dublin Institute of Technology €789

Dublin Institute for Advanced Studies €708

The National Institute for Bioprocessing Research and Training €573

RTÉ €515

The Festival of Curiosity Ltd. €335

Cork Institute of Technology €216

Waterford Institute of Technology €190

Institute of Technology Carlow €169

Cork City Council t/a Lifetime Lab €150

National Youth Council of Ireland €145

Scifest Ltd. €135

Junior Achievement Ireland €132

Cosmos Education T/A - Blackrock Castle Observatory €126

Irish Research Council €114

Institute of Technology Sligo €109

Irish Universities Association €90

CoderDojo Ireland Foundation €80

The Institution of Engineers of Ireland €70

Institute of Technology Tallaght €70

Athlone Institute of Technology €69

British Council Ireland €65

Royal Society of Chemistry €47

FabLab Foundation Ireland €42

Brigit’s Garden CLG €39

The National Concert Hall €39

Gallomanor Communications Ltd. €38

Feilte Dhuibh Linne Teoranta t/a St Patrick’s Day Festival €37

Glenosheen Ltd. €35

Grant Commitments and Payments Analysis 2018
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2018 Payments by Institution
€000s

Mary Immaculate College €34

Wexford County Council €32

Whipsmart Media Ltd. €32

Centre for Climate Change T/A Cool Planet Experience €32

Monaghan County Council €32

Atlantic Corridor €27

ECDL Ireland Ltd T/A ICS Skills €25

Learning Hub Limerick Ltd. €25

Mayo County Council t/a Mayo Science and Technology Festival €24

STEPS, Engineers Ireland €21

Galway Science and Technology Forum €20

Limerick Institute of Technology €19

DunLaoghaire Rathdown County Council €18

The Rediscovery Centre Ltd. €8

Dublinia €7

Gaiety School of Acting €7

Imaginosity, Dublin Children’s Museum €7

Louth County Council €7

Sirius Science Ltd. €7

The Children’s Cultural Centre Ltd. t/a The Ark €7

Learn it Educational Solutions Ltd. €6

Royal Dublin Society RDS €5

The Cork Electronic Industries Association €5

Calmast, Waterford Institute of Technology €5

Atlantic Corridor t/a Midlands Midlands Science €4

Monaghan County Council - Library Service €4

Institute of Technology Tralee €3

LarkinLennox Ltd T/a Foodoppi €1

Rokit Entertainment Ltd. €1

The Ark €1

Trinity College (Science Gallery) €1

Dublinia Heritage Centre €1

Kildare Education Centre €0

National College of Ireland €0

Environmental Protection Agency* -€118

Irish Cancer Society* -€183

Geological Survey of Ireland* -€297

Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine* -€820

GRAND TOTAL €181,020

* Represents the co-funding by these funding agencies of awards made by SFI.
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2018 Payments by Programme
€000s

SFI Research Centres €55,563

Investigator Programme €31,042

Research Infrastructure €24,829

Research Professorship €10,688

Spokes Fixed Programme €7,664

Starting Investigator Research Grant €5,489

Career Development Award €5,339

Strategic Partnership Programme €5,285

Research Centres PhD Scheme €4,377

Technological Innovation Development Award (TIDA) €4,240

SFI Discover Awards €4,314

Future Innovator Prize €3,161

President of Ireland Future Research Leaders €2,675

BBSRC-SFI Joint Funding of Research €1,938

EU Co-Funding Initiatives €1,897

US-Ireland R&D Partnership €2,940

Industry Fellowship €1,475

SFI ERC Support Programme €1,436

RS-SFI University Research Fellow €1,260

ERC Development Programme €1,258

Investigator Programme - PhD programme €916

Conference and Workshop €613

SFI-HRB-Wellcome Trust Biomedical Research Partnership €542

SFI-Pfizer Biotherapeutics Innovation Award Programme 2014 €532

President of Ireland Young Researcher Award (PIYRA) €519

Fellowship €495

RS-SFI University Research Fellow Enhancement Award €429

ICS-SFI Collaborative Cancer Research Centre (CCRC) Programme 2014 €302

SFI-NSFC Partnership €250

Translational Research Awards (TRA) €245

SFI-NSF I-Corps@SFI Entrepreneurial Training Programme €207

RS-SFI University Research Fellow Start up Grant €172

Maternity Allowance €164

Postgraduate Scholarship Scheme €95

SFI/IUA Partnership €90

Strategic Research Centres €37

NSF/SFI Graduate Research opportunities Worldwide (GROW) Programme €29

Research projects Grant scheme Strand 6 €18

US-Irl R&D Partnership Planning Programme €2

Incoming Short Term Travel Fellowship -€1

Research Frontiers Pogramme (RFP) -€8

Inv Catalyst Award -€469

Centres for Science Engineering and Technology (CSET) -€1,029

GRAND TOTAL €181,020
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2018 Grant Commitments by Programme
€000s

Research Infrastructure €24,862

SFI Research Centres €20,629

Research Professorship €17,232

Research Centres PhD Scheme €13,739

Starting Investigator Research Grant €10,258

Investigator Programme - PhD programme €9,242

President of Ireland Future Research Leaders €6,228

Technological Innovation Development Award (TIDA) €4,541

SFI Future Innovator Prize 2018 Call €3,161

US-Ireland R&D Partnership €2,927

Spokes Rolling Programme €2,466

EU Co-Funding Initiatives €2,103

Industry Fellowship €1,854

Strategic Partnership Programme €1,638

SFI ERC Support Programme €1,407

RS-SFI University Research Fellow Enhancement Award €1,304

SFI Discover Programme Call €3,594

SFI Fellowship €650

Conference and Workshop €624

SFI/RTÉ Joint Initiative €585

SFI ERC Development Programme €561

RS-SFI University Research Fellow Research Grant €524

SFI Secondment model €481

SFI Discover Science Week 2018 €472

RS-SFI University Start Up Grant €383

SFI Maternity Allowance €352

SFI-NSF I-Corps@SFI Entrepreneurial Training Programme €229

NSF/SFI Graduate Research opportunities Worldwide (GROW) Programme €29

US-Irl R&D Partnership Planning Programme €2

GRAND TOTAL €132,077
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2018 Number of Awards by Programme
Conference and Workshop 64

SFI Discover 59

Technological Innovation Development Award (TIDA) 38

Industry Fellowship 23

Starting Investigator Research Grant 19

SFI Maternity Allowance 14

Research Centres PhD Scheme 12

SFI Future Innovator Prize 2018 Call 12

Discover Regional/National Impact 10

EU Co-Funding Initiatives 9

RS-SFI University Research Fellow Enhancement Award 9

Investigator Programme - PhD programme 7

SFI-NSF I-Corps@SFI Entrepreneurial Training Programme 7

Research Infrastructure 6

SFI ERC Support Programme 6

US-Ireland R&D Partnership 5

President of Ireland Future Research Leaders 4

Research Professorship 3

SFI Fellowship 3

NSF/SFI Graduate Research opportunities Worldwide (GROW) Programme 2

RS-SFI University Start Up Grant 2

SFI Secondment model 2

RS-SFI University Research Fellow Research Grant 1

SFI ERC Development Programme 1

SFI Research Centres 1

Spokes Rolling Programme 1

Strategic Partnership Programme 1

US-Ireland R&D Partnership: Centre-to-Centre mechanism 1

US-Irl R&D Partnership Planning Programme 1

GRAND TOTAL 323

PAGE 72      |      Science Foundation Ireland      |      Annual Report 2018



2018 Number Awards by Institution
Trinity College Dublin 68

University College Dublin 58

National University of Ireland, Galway 37

University College Cork 24

Dublin City University 18

University of Limerick 15

Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland 14

National University of Ireland, Maynooth 12

The Royal Society 12

Tyndall National Institute 12

Dublin Institute of Technology 4

Teagasc 4

British Council Ireland 3

Cork Institute of Technology 3

Centre for Climate Change T/A Cool 
Planet Experience

2

Institute of Technology Carlow 2

Institute of Technology Sligo 2

The Festival of Curiosity Ltd 2

The National Institute for Bioprocessing 
Research and Training 

2

Atlantic Corridor 1

Brigit’s Garden CLG 1

Cork City Council t/a Lifetime Lab 1

Cosmos Education T/A - Blackrock Castle 
Observatory

1

Dublinia 1

DunLaoghaire Rathdown County Council 1

ECDL Ireland Ltd T/A ICS Skills 1

Feilte Dhuibh Linne Teoranta t/a St 
Patrick’s Day Festival

1

Gaiety School of Acting 1

Gallomanor Communications Ltd. 1

Galway Science and Technology Forum 1

Glenosheen Ltd. 1

Imaginosity, Dublin Children’s Museum 1

Learning Hub Limerick Ltd 1

Limerick Institute of Technology 1

Louth County Council 1

Marine Institute 1

Mary Immaculate College 1

Mayo County Council t/a Mayo Science 
and Technology Festival

1

Monaghan County Council 1

National Youth Council of Ireland 1

RTE 1

Sirius Science Ltd 1

The Children’s Cultural Centre Ltd. t/a 
The Ark

1

The National Concert Hall 1

The Rediscovery Centre Ltd 1

Waterford Institute of Technology 1

Wexford County Council 1

Whipsmart Media Ltd 1

GRAND TOTAL 323
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